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Tuesday, March 30, 2021
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.


DR. ELSAYED:  Morning, everyone.  Just for those who may not have participated yesterday, the Ontario Energy Board sits today on a matter of an application filed by Upper Canada Transmission, Inc. operating as NextBridge Infrastructure LP.  This application has been assigned case number EB-2020-0150.  This is the second day of the oral hearing which was scheduled for three days.  My name is Emad Elsayed, and I'm presiding over this proceeding.  With me on the Panel are my fellow Commissioners, Ms. Allison Duff and Mr. Pankaj Sardana.


According to the schedule -- first of all, before I go to that, are there any preliminary matters?


MR. MURRAY:  None from the applicant, sir.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Hearing none, I'll go to CCC.  Ms. Girvan.

NEXTBRIDGE - PANEL 1, resumed

Jennifer Tidmarsh,

Becky Walding,

Carly Weinstein,

Dan Mayers,

Matt Raffenberg,

Kara Schwaebe,

Chris Russo; Previously Affirmed.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Good morning, everyone.  I'm Julie Girvan, and I'm representing the Consumers Council of Canada.  So I filed a compendium, and I was wondering if we could get an exhibit number for that, please.


MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray, OEB Staff, and that will be Exhibit K2.1. 

EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  CCC COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1.


MS. GIRVAN:  Great.  Thank you.  If you can just turn to the page -- page 1 of the compendium, please.  And this is something that we didn't talk about yesterday, Mr. Rubenstein didn't talk about, but I would like to ask you some questions about the term that you've chosen, the nine years and nine months.  And I think what you're saying in this answer is one of the reasons for the longer period is to save ratepayers money.  And I guess that's really my first question.


Are you saying that one of the rationales for the almost ten-year term is to save ratepayers money through avoided regulatory costs?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, that's --


MS. WALDING:  Go ahead, Ms. Tidmarsh.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Ms. Walding.  So, yes, one of the reasons for the ten-year term is savings for ratepayers.  If we can just scroll up in the compendium just to -- or, sorry, see the answer, the response.  And we outline it there.


Ms. Walding, did you want to add?


MS. WALDING:  Yes, I would just add that it's also certainty for NextBridge as well to have rates set for ten years.  It helps us get better financing costs, and so it also, you know, provides certainty for us as the company as well.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So -- and you compared this -- the regulatory cost to two recent cases, one with Hydro Ottawa and one with EnWin Utilities, and you're saying that you believe that if you came into rebase that your costs would be in the range of one to two million?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So the costs that we have --


MS. WALDING:  Go ahead, Ms. Tidmarsh.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Ms. Walding keep talking over each other.  So the costs here are examples of what we've seen when it comes to rate cases, and, you know, there has been a lot of interest in the NextBridge case, and NextBridge believes that our costs might not necessarily be that high, but those are just some recent examples.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And do you know that at times -- actually, more times than not -- that the -- these types of cases actually result in reduced revenue requirements relative to what was filed by the utilities?


MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm not aware of the details of those 

-- the end result, those two cases, what they originally put in for and what they ended up getting in the end.  I don't know the delta.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  If you could turn to page 2 of the compendium, please.  And again, I get the impression you're arguing that a longer term is better for ratepayers.  Is that what you're saying here?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's what we're saying.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But Mr. Rubenstein yesterday took you through his analysis, and in his analysis in the later years of your term, years sort of five to ten or five to nine-and-a-half, what his analysis was showing was an increased ROE relative to that which you applied for.  And I'm just wondering if you could respond.


Wouldn't you say that it really should be a balance between the ratepayers and the shareholders, and how a nine-year term could potentially be worse off for ratepayers?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So Ms. Walding was answering those questions yesterday, so I'll let her continue with the line of questioning.  You're on mute, Ms. Walding.


MS. WALDING:  As we discussed yesterday with Mr. Rubenstein, that is just a spreadsheet analysis.  It's not really reflective of what would really actually happen, because as you can recall we said that we would have a regulatory review if we were over 300 basis points.  And so I do not believe that those would be, you know, returns that NextBridge would actually see.  We have no expectation of that.


And so -- so, you know, I don't think -- I think that, you know, what we've talked about is if NextBridge performs during this time period and is able to manage their costs, then there should be savings both for customers and for NextBridge.


And the other thing we talked about is the historically low ROE that we're going to be locking in for the time period is a large savings for customers.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But the analysis that Mr. Rubenstein showed you is not beyond the realm of possibility, is it?


MS. WALDING:  It is beyond the realm of possibility.  That is what I'm saying.  I do not -- we would definitely expect to have a regulatory review if we stayed at 300 basis points.


MS. GIRVAN:  But you wouldn't at 290 basis points?


MS. WALDING:  No, we wouldn't under our application.  And so if you go back to Mr. Rubenstein's analysis, you will see that the vast majority of the overearnings that he's calculating is in the time period of which we would exceed over 300, and so that analysis needs to be reduced to actually show that we would not be receiving those overearnings after that time period.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you don't agree that a more appropriate balance would be a term of five years, and then you could rebase after five years?  Do you have any position on that type of model?


MS. WALDING:  So I think that the five years doesn't allow us as much certainty, and so that will definitely show up in terms of the financing cost that we go out and get, which is 100 percent pass-through to customers, and so that is another reason why we have asked for the longer term.  It provides us the certainty of getting less cost in our financings.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.  Could you please turn to page 3 of compendium.  I just want to clarify.  In this answer under the response it's about why you chose the revenue cap, and you said:

"The revenue cap proposal is reasonable for NextBridge because it is consistent with the OEB revenue cap proposal framework."


So I understood your proposal to be a custom IR framework; is that correct?


MS. WALDING:  That is correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So it's not a standard OEB revenue cap proposal.  Okay.


If you could turn to page 4 of the compendium, please.  So Mr. Rubenstein took you through this list yesterday in quite a bit of detail, and I think, Ms. Tidmarsh, you're calling this death by a thousand cuts.  I think that's what you said yesterday, in terms of things that may happen that may result in increased costs for NextBridge over the plan of the -- the rate plan; is that correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.  So not one single one of these items is -- would put us over a Z factor threshold collectively, and additively, all of these items are risks that we are managing to our OM&A budget.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And I was just wondering, in terms of this list, have you done any sensitivity analysis, saying sort of what are the goal posts here, what's the sort of minimum cost, what's the sort of maximum?  Have you done any analysis like that with respect to these items?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we have not done a sensitivity analysis, in a traditional sense of the word.  We have done a risk analysis, so we've put together all of these risks and the likelihood of them occurring.  And, you know, we've factored that into what we're going to have to manage during the OM&A period, with our minimal budget to be able to remain within our structure, within our capped OM&A budget.

MS. GIRVAN:  Have you quantified these?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Not individually, no, we have not.  Some of them are unknowns, for example --


MS. GIRVAN:  Go ahead, sorry.

MS. TIDMARSH:  For example, the one with new First Nations reserve land could be added to the land base.  We don't know the time frame on whether some of these outstanding land claims will be added.  We don't know how much extra land would be added to some of these reserves.  So that's not something we can quantify.

We can't -- we couldn't put numbers around how many bears eat plastic markers, or when that may in fact happen.  So a lot of these are a lot of unknowns.

Same with the weather; we can't guess what mother nature would do.  So we know that it's a possibility and that's a risk, and something we're going to need to manage ourselves.

MS. GIRVAN:  You're telling the Board that this is a real problem for you, but you're not able to quantify what this risk is?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The risks are real here, and yet we are still going to manage to our OM&A budget that we have.  So the risks are on NextBridge, and those extra costs are on NextBridge to manage during the IR term.

MS. GIRVAN:  But we have no idea what those costs might be?  We don't know the range of those costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we know how much that those could potentially be when they happen.  But again, we don't know when they will happen or the magnitude of what those costs are going to be.

As I mentioned, localized extreme weather events, as Mr. Mayers talked yesterday, could be just icing on a line, or it could be actually some sort of tower failure because of a weather event.  There's such a large, large spectrum of what those costs could be on an individual basis.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you have in your application applied for a Z factor relief, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Or the opportunity, if needed, to be able to apply for Z factor relief.  And I think your materiality threshold is in the range of 270,000 is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to check, I believe it is, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So when I look at this list, which of these items would qualify, from your perspective, at least to make an application for Z factor relief?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think if we look at this list -- as I mentioned before, and I don't want to keep using my colloquialism of death by a thousand cuts, but all these different items could in fact come in under our Z factor and again will be additive to our rate base.

So again, I mentioned the icing.  It could be simple icing on the line that may come in under the Z factor.  That could happen multiple times because of the extreme weather around Lake Superior over the ten-year term.  Or there could be a large event which would be included in the Z factor.

But again, it's the small ones, the small additive things that we're trying to manage in our budget.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But you have no idea what the magnitude of that might be?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have no idea because in this case, we can't predict the weather or how often things would ice, or the severity of the icing.

MS. WALDING:  We do know our materiality threshold under the application is 278,000.  So it would be all the event that would fall under the materiality threshold as well.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And with respect to the potential of the extreme weather events, the icing, the lightning, have you spoken to Hydro One who has a line there already in terms of assessing what that risk might be?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can pass some of this to Mr. Mayers to talk about our weather events.  But by hiring Hydro One to do our operations, that was part of their scope and what they bid in on the project when it comes to their unit costs.  We used of that data, and we have also been doing this project for eight years and we've seen a lot of the weather events.

In fact, about a dozen years ago, there was an extreme weather event at Hydro One's towers and a few came down on the far east side of the line, which is some of our most severe weather.

Mr. Mayers, could you answer Ms. Girvan's question how we've done a bit of a risk analysis for our weather events?

MR. MAYERS:  What I can say is we did speak to Hydro One about lightning performance.  You're on the Canadian Shield on this project.  The Canadian Shield provides a lot of resistance to grounding, and therefore there is a lot of extra requirements for grounding, hence the reason why we have put arrestors on our line.

In the discussions with Hydro One, they did provide some of their prior lightning analysis and we used that to formulate some of the assumptions that went into the engineering related to the grounding requirements.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  You didn't have them help you develop your risk analysis?

MR. MAYERS:  No, we did not.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could you turn to page 8 of the compendium, please, and if you could scroll down to D.  The question was why a proposed productivity factor of zero is appropriate --


I would like to refer to answer D in this interrogatory answer and the question was:  Please explain why a proposed productivity factor of zero is appropriate in NextBridge's view.

And the answer in this is that the length -- NextBridge's proposed productivity factor of zero is appropriate because of the length of the IR term.

And I guess I'm questioning -- so one of the rationales for having zero productivity is because you've chosen a nine year and nine month term?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Ms. Walding can start the answer and Mr. Mayers and I can help chime in.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that is part of the reason.  But it's also what we've seen in other applications including Bruce to Milton and Niagara connector.  And as a matter of fact, in the Hydro One Sault Ste. Marie case, there were two expert opinions provided in that case, one that came from Hydro One that was done by Power System Economics and one that was performed for Board Staff, and that was under the Pacific Economics Group.

And under both of those studies, they resulted in that the transmission sector actually has negative productivity.  And so the Pacific Economics Group, which was the Board Staff expert, actually recommended a zero percent productivity factor which was approved by the Board.

In that case, too, as well they gave them a stretch factor of .3 percent and the Board clearly said that stretch factor was due to the merging of Sault Ste. Marie and integration of the two systems.  So we feel like there is very good precedent out there by the Board for the zero productivity factor.

MS. GIRVAN:  So given this answer, if you had a shorter term, do you see a rationale for a productivity factor?

MS. WALDING:  Given Sault Ste. Marie was an eight year term and they did not have a productivity factor, no, we agreed with the experts that provided opinions.  That's why we have actually also included a zero productivity factor is that it's very hard to have productivity, especially on a one line that we've talked about here, it's very hard to have productivity on this type of line with not being able to manage it within a broad system is what I talked about yesterday.  There is not ability to have give and takes.  So that's also why we propose the zero productivity.  

MS. GIRVAN:  If you can turn to page 10 of the compendium, please.  So the question here was why NextBridge's proposed rate framework does not include any earnings sharing.  And I would just like your perspective on that.

Can you explain to me why you think that the earnings sharing is not appropriate?

MS. WALDING:  Because we have already provided in our application the 300 basis-point review, and it's also the Board's policy that providing the earnings sharing mechanism is not mandatory, that it should be determined on the case-by-case basis.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you're saying the 300 basis points represents some earnings sharing?

MS. WALDING:  It represents, no, the off-ramp, which is required in an application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, and that's in the case of significant overearnings?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, and it's also -- but what I'm saying on the earnings sharing mechanism is that it's not the Board's policy that it's mandatory.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And are you aware that all of the custom IR plans that the Board's approved in the past include earnings sharing?

MS. WALDING:  I do know that in Bruce to Milton and Niagara connector there was earnings sharing, but I also know that those were settlements, and the Board has said that the settlements are commercial arrangements and that they are not -- because we don't know what was negotiated in those settlements that, you know, those are not really precedent for going forward.  So I don't know that you can say all have included earnings sharing mechanisms, because a lot of them have been done under commercial arrangements that were settlements.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But would you take it subject to check that there are many plans that have been approved by the Board through a hearing process that include earnings sharing?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I would take that subject to check.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Could you please turn to page 12 of the compendium, and this is in the context of deferral accounts, and there is reference here about a settlement, and it's a symmetrical account related to six system access custom or capital additions.  And you're aware that was approved in Ottawa.  That's what this answer says.

MS. WALDING:  Would you repeat the question?  I didn't follow that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Sorry.  So this is about deferral accounts, and there is a question about your deferral account, which you're proposing is symmetrical, and I think you're referring to this answer about what was approved at Hydro Ottawa as a similar type of account.  Is that what you're saying here?

MS. WALDING:  Could you scroll down a little bit so I can see the --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, sorry, it's -- it's on page -- yeah, page 12.

MS. WALDING:  On this account --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah.

MS. WALDING:  On this account are you questioning on the revenue deferral variance account?  Is that the question here?

MS. GIRVAN:  No, it's with respect to the capital variance account.

MS. WALDING:  Okay.  So I'm just reading -- it looks like it's consistent with Hydro Ottawa, NextBridge is proposing the revenue deferral differential variance account, so I don't know.  Keep on scrolling down.  I'm trying to find the reference here -- yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry.  I guess my question was really that I think what you're saying is that your capital cost variance account is similar to what was approved in Ottawa.  Is that what you're saying?

MS. WALDING:  Let me read.  I'm just trying to recall this.  Ms. Weinstein, can you add to this while I'm kind of checking?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yeah, I believe what we were insinuating here is that our request for symmetrical account in regards to the construction cost variance account was similar to what we saw in the Hydro Ottawa case reference on page 12.  That's I believe what we're pointing out, that there are previous examples of symmetrical amounts in regards to capital.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And are you aware what system access means in the context of the OEB accounts for capital spending?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I'm not aware specifically of system access in this context, but the way I interpreted it was it was referring to capital expenditures, infrastructure.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, and it's -- just to be clear, it's infrastructure that's required and out of control of the utility, and I just wanted to make that specification there, just to make sure that you were aware of that.

Okay.  I think I'll move on.  It's -- I apologize.

Okay.  Could you please turn to number 6, page 16 of the compendium.  And if you can scroll down to the question.  And I'm just following up on -- you had a discussion with Mr. Rubenstein yesterday about your COVID-related construction costs.  And I wasn't clear if you -- I think you said you don't know what they are yet.  Is that 

-- is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So at this point in time our COVID-related construction costs, we don't know the magnitude, considering we are still in the middle of the pandemic, sadly, and that by the time we get to COD we will have a better idea of what our COVID-related construction costs are.  I think part of the conversation with Mr. Rubenstein yesterday is -- was that a lot of these costs are borne by our general contractor, Valard, and so in the interests -- so when the COD happens NextBridge will negotiate with Valard to determine what would be related to COVID, what would in fact still be part of their scope in a fixed cost, so NextBridge really has to wear the costs in the end, and we will have to seek a prudency review after the fact to dispose of this account.  So NextBridge wants to make sure that it's going to -- that those costs were spent prudently for the ratepayers.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you don't have any idea of the magnitude?  Are we talking 500,000 dollars, are we talking 5 million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There have been some -- there have been some COVID-related costs that NextBridge has been reporting on, and some of those are outside of the scope of the general contractor, and those have been reported in our quarterly reports.  And those are minor to date, but as I said, our general contractor is bearing the costs.  And again, the impetus is going to be on NextBridge to go through our general contractor's costs and make sure that those costs are prudent and that they're accounting for them.  So at this point in time we don't know the magnitude or in fact what falls under a COVID-related cost versus a cost that could be under the general contractor's fixed price, in which case NextBridge wouldn't be paying for that and neither would the ratepayers, because it's part of the fixed-price contract.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And are you assuming that once those costs are settled, so you've come to some agreement with your contractor, and NextBridge is responsible for a certain element of those costs, are you seeking 100 percent recovery from ratepayers of those costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So at that point those costs would be part of our disposition of the construction cost variance account.  So, yes, those costs are a force majeure, an event that NextBridge hadn't anticipated, and so we would seek recovery of those costs.

MS. GIRVAN:  And you're aware the OEB -- I know you've participated in the consultation with respect to COVID costs, and the OEB's considering, I guess, sort of a policy with respect to those costs.

And are you saying you're not subject to that policy at the end of the day?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So what I am saying -- and we have been part of those stakeholder sessions, and the most recent one, NextBridge and EPCOR both brought up the question of, we're calling ourselves greenfield, so we have no rates and we're a single asset.  And so for us we ask the question of how would we -- what's the policy or what's going forward for these greenfield kind of one-off different types of projects.  And we were told by OEB Staff that because we had some -- we had live cases or upcoming live cases that the decision on how to treat COVID costs would be dealt with under there.

So I think what I would like to do is ask Ms. Weinstein to kind of differentiate what the current OEB Staff proposal is for COVID cost and why NextBridge does not fit into that -- into that construct.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Sure.  Our understanding right now is the current OEB proposal and the usage of the deferral account is for entities that have rates in place, and COVID is causing differences on their stated rates in place versus what they're incurring and how do you recover that when you already have rates in place.

NextBridge doesn't have any rates set currently and all costs incurred right now are part of our actual construction to get the line used and useful and in-service.  So our costs right now are technically capital construction and since we don't have rates in place right now, there is no difference to our current rates.

These would become a difference to the revenue requirement that we proposed in this application, so we are proposing to report our costs as capital or CWIP construction right now.  And once that does cause a difference in our revenue requirement, once we are in-service, that's what we would put in this proposed variance account to then seek recovery of while the balance is reviewed for prudency, once we have audited balances in our second annual update following the in-service date when we've proposed disposition.

MS. GIRVAN:  You don't support any form of sharing those costs between the ratepayers and the shareholders?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Our proposal is to record those as capital construction costs currently as CWIP and construction, and then record the difference in revenue requirement in the variance account and bring it forward for disposition in our second annual update following in-service to be reviewed at that time.

MS. GIRVAN:  But you're not supporting sharing?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  It's not currently in our proposal.  It's just to bring it forward for review and disposition and at that time proposed in the application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could you please turn to page 18 of the compendium?

MS. WALDING:  May I also add to the previous answer as well?  So the COVID costs being borne by traditional utilities in Ontario is more of an expense item, whereas these are more like a capital item.

So even sharing of a capital item is not even in the same context as what's being discussed right now with the OEB, where things are expenses.  So we're not just talking about testing here, as an example.  We're talking about the demobilization and the mobilization when we had to pause construction.

So there's other things that are capital-related, so it's very different.  And that is whether why the OEB Staff did tell us during the consultation that ours would be handled differently, because they did look at our costs differently than what's being borne by the traditional utilities in Ontario.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Could you please turn to page 18?  I want to be clear -- and you went through this with Mr. Rubenstein.  I just want to be clear about what you're proposing with respect to debt and ROE.

It's my understanding that you're using the ROE based on the Board's ROE for 2020 rates.  But with respect to debt, you're waiting until you actually issue your debt and have an actual debt rate.  Is that correct?

MS. WALDING:  Current rates are using the debt that is approved by the OEB right now, and so the 2020 short-term and long-term debt rates is what our application is using and we have proposed that rate variance account to true-up to our actual debt cost, once those debt facilities have been issued.

MS. GIRVAN:  Your rates going forward will be based on a 2020 ROE set by the Board, and a 2022 debt rate?

MS. WALDING:  It will be our actual debt rate, so it won't be tied any longer to the OEB's debt, short and debt term rates.  So it will be our actual debt cost, and so when we go to seek disposition of the debt rate variance account, then we will have the debt cost reviewed for prudency at that point of the actual debt that we have put on the project.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  To be clear, I think I heard you say yesterday that the reason that you've chosen the 2020 ROE is you needed to lock in a rate for one of your partners.

MS. WALDING:  Our Indigenous group.  Part of the reason, yes, is because they are going to get financing right now through the government loan program that is going to allow them to buy into our project.  So they have been having to fill out financial models and turn those in, so that they could get the funding that they need.

So we wanted to lock down some certainty of what that ROE would be, so that they had an actual financial model that they could turn in.

MS. GIRVAN:  Is that the only reason you've chosen 2020?

MS. WALDING:  Well, it's also because it's he a very low ROE.  It's an historically low ROE, so it's hard for us -- all the partners, really -- to manage our financials with a constantly moving ROE that we don't know what it is.  And also for when we go to get our debt financing, you know, knowing what that is and having that locked in is easier for us to manage as a utility.

MS. GIRVAN:  Could you please turn to page 21 of the compendium?  This is with respect to the customer connection and cost recovery agreement with Hydro One, and it's just a clarification.

How can the OEB approve this without seeing the CCRA?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can begin the answer, and Mr. Mayers can finish it.  What I would like, though, is could we possibly bring up from our application Exhibit C, tab 6, Schedule 1, page 1 that we were referring to?

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure. I'm hoping someone else can do that.

MS. TIDMARSH:  No worries.

MS. GIRVAN:  I made it clear I can't share screens.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Jillian's got us.  Tab 6, Schedule 1, Jillian.  Super helpful.

Mr. Mayers, can you just explain what this CCRA is and then talk about how the cost will be borne by Hydro One and not by NextBridge?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, you stole my thunder.  The CCRA agreement is nothing more than an interconnection agreement between NextBridge and Hydro One.  As it shows here in those two bullets, it basically culminates in an agreement that states whose accountable for what at each of these locations.

Basically, we have two lines that terminate at three substations.  These termination points are described.  The accountability of who does what work at that termination point is described.  How each of us is going to complete that work and by what date we're going to complete it by is also included in that agreement.

But the cost itself is Hydro One's to facilitate.  And as part of the -- as it states in the Energy Board decision, Hydro One will submit the costs for that interconnection -- for these interconnections in their rates when they file their rate case.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So it's your position you don't need to have this in place prior to OEB approval?

MR. MAYERS:  That is our position, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  I just have some other follow-up questions not related to the compendium.

With respect to your term, your nine year nine month term, are any of your partnerships contingent on getting that term?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can begin the answer.  So the partnerships -- our current partnership with Enbridge and OMERS, and then I think you're talking about our future partnership with Bamkushwada.  So if any of our agreements are contingent on the length of the IR term, the answer is no.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  With respect to your agreement with Hydro One Supercom, why did you choose the three years with the five years rather than going for a longer term agreement?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can start that answer and Mr. Mayers can add to it.  We believed it was actually prudent instead of putting all of our eggs in one basket, I guess is the way to say it, we wanted to be able to have a review after three years to determine if any of those rates are changed, if there was anything that we could find that we could do ourselves instead of Hydro One, and so again, you know, it's a long-term contract, but we wanted to start it off short so that we could understand those costs and weren't locked into rates for a longer term.  Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, in addition, you know, it really is a partnership, and part of that partnership is that you want to make sure that the partnership is working out, you want to make sure that we can work closely together with HONI and that our choice of who this was awarded to was the right decision, and to do that we decided that the three-year term was what we felt comfortable doing, both parties, and then at the end of the -- actually, the end of the second year we will begin negotiations for whether we will extend that contract or not.  What we don't know is whether HONI -- again, you saw our risks, and, you know, HONI has limited resources in this particular area.  I say limited in the sense that they are more than capable of covering everything, but let's just say that they have enough work that would require them to potentially not want to continue this contract going into years four, five, beyond.  Again, it's speculation at this point, but all I'm saying is that you have that partnership and at some point in time you have to decide whether it's working and whether the costs are acceptable, and if not you renegotiate, you come to an agreement or you don't.  In that case we will let another RFP out and look at signing another contract.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I just had one last question.  You referred in your -- I don't think we necessarily need to pull it up -- in your presentation about vegetation management.  Can you just clarify for me, what are your annual vegetation management costs?

MS. WALDING:  Ms. Weinstein.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, it's in the 4.9 million, is it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So there's a couple of places -- I can start this off, and Dan can, and -- sorry, Mr. Mayers and Ms. Weinstein can elaborate.

So our vegetation management costs are included not only in the Hydro One agreement, Hydro One Supercom agreement, but also in our own costs as well.

Dan, did you want to expand on that, and Ms. Weinstein can get a number.

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, I think the vegetation management costs are spread.  You have inspection costs, as we discussed yesterday, you have the helicopter costs of these inspections, you have the vegetation management related to the trimming, as well as any follow-up trimming from the inspections, any emergency response, but it's mainly caught up in our breakdown of our 1.275 million that we showed in the OM&A portion.  There are some other costs that are spread across, but the majority of those costs show in --

MS. GIRVAN:  So -- sorry, the proposal that that --

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I just didn't get the end of what Mr. Mayers was saying.  A majority of those costs show...

MR. MAYERS:  In the 1.27 million.

MS. GIRVAN:  So how much of the 1.275 million is related to vegetation management?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  If you could give me one moment, I believe it's in Energy Probe 25.

THE REPORTER:  I'm so sorry, who's speaking?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Carly Weinstein.

THE REPORTER:  Okay.  Sorry, go ahead.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Sure.  So in Energy Probe 25, part D we say there is not a specific line item for this vegetation cost.  It's embedded in the 400,000 HONI line item that we do call in Energy Probe 25, so it is a component of that, on that second page, part D.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I guess I'm just, I'm trying to understand this, because where I'm headed really is, isn't the vegetation management -- I mean, you have an annual inspection, and I understand that, because that seems to be required by the NERC standard, but it seems to me that you've just cleared the line, and that in terms of brush control and trees and things like that that you wouldn't really require that for many years.  Is that not correct?

MR. MAYERS:  That is not correct.  As a matter of fact --

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Can you --

MR. MAYERS:  -- as I stated yesterday, we began clearing operations in September of 2019, and so -- in workfront 1.  And we haven't touched that right of way since then, and by the time this project goes in-service in the end of March of 2022 it will have been two-and-a-half years since anybody has been in that workfront.  As we -- as we have, you know, gained knowledge of the vegetation that we are going to be dealing with here -- I'll give you a for instance.  You know, recently -- we understand that we have what's called trembling aspens throughout this area here, and the trembling aspens, when they get cut, their roots, they run across the rock, they spread rapidly.  They can grow a foot to a foot-and-a-half per year, and I'm required to keep the vegetation below two metres.

So, you know, my concern with an area that gets fairly significant rainfall, has a lot of water, I've got a lot of vegetation.  You saw the pictures from our presentation.  There is a lot of vegetation that needs to be cleared up.

You also have the erosion control and sediment control.  That all falls under vegetation management.  We have brush control, we have noxious weeds that we have to contain, and all the specific requirements that go into when we can spray and where we can't spray, where we can spray, where we can't spray, how far we have to stay away from one [audio dropout] Indigenous communities [audio dropout] --

THE REPORTER:  I'm just -- I don't know if anyone else is hearing, but there's somebody's -- I'm getting feedback from someone, and I'm not hearing every word Mr. Mayers is saying.  Is it just me?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I'm having trouble hearing him, actually.

THE REPORTER:  I'm not sure where the feedback is coming from, if it's on your end, Mr. Mayers, but could you please just repeat the last bit of --

MR. MAYERS:  [Audio dropout] my office, but -- so I'm just trying to describe for Ms. Girvan all of the impacts of the vegetation management.  I don't know where you began to not hear me.  Ms. Girvan, am I responding to your --

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, yeah, no, no, that's fair.  I just -- so you're saying you have an annual budget of 400,000 for vegetation management?

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, it's George Vegh [audio dropout] with me [audio dropout] the transcript.  Is it possible so that we have the complete answer on the record, is it possible for the recorder to read back what she heard so we know what was missing or for Mr. Mayers just to repeat his complete answer to that?  Perhaps, Mr. Mayers, you can just repeat your answer.  I don't want to belabour, but it should go on the record.

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I don't know who that was who was speaking.

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, it's George Vegh for the applicant.

THE REPORTER:  Thank you.

MR. MAYERS:  So would you like me to repeat or are we waiting for the court reporter to respond to the [audio dropout]?

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Mayers, why don't you repeat your response, and then we will see if that covers it.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, sir.  I believe I started with, you know, we have our allotment of vegetation management that is inclusive of the 400,000.  It's not all of the 400,000.  There is a component in there, and part of the component are the vegetation management inspections that we have to do, both aerially on an annual basis for NERC, FAC 003, and then there will be spot checks on the ground provided we see issues, whether they be leaning trees, trees that are down, erosion or sediment control that needs to be adjusted, bridges that are washed out, roads that are washed out.  Any number of things can fall into that overall vegetation or right-of-way management.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you're saying that you have a consistent cost every year to deal with those issues, is that what you're saying?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, I am.  We just don't know the extent of it.  What we started off on was on the western end of this project where the construction started, we have not been in that right of way.  So that's the first place we're going to look we're going to look is we're going to start moving back west to east in that right of way to see how the vegetation has grown.

A lot of these are assumptions that are made.  We don't really know.  We know  [audio dropout]


MS. TIDMARSH:  Perhaps I can translate for a second while Mr. Mayers works on his audio.  Pardon me.

MR. VEGH:  Instead of Ms. Tidmarsh providing an answer, Mr. Mayers, if he can speak more slowly and clearly perhaps the reporter can transcribe what your evidence is on this.

[Off the record discussion.]


MS. GIRVAN:  Can I clarify my question?

DR. ELSAYED:  Go ahead, Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  My question is -- I'm struggling to find -- I guess I was really looking for from year one to year nine, you have vegetation management costs included in your  OM&A budget and I was trying to find out, A, what the number is, and B, if it's consistent throughout the term of the plan.  That's all.

MR. MAYERS:  The answer is we have the number embedded in our 400,000 dollars that we've spoken about, and that number is consistent.  However, there will be an anticipation that there may be years where that number goes up, and there may be years where that number goes down.

And NextBridge, as we've stated previously, will absorb those costs when and if we have higher costs due to increased growth rates, or additional work that's required due to unforeseen weather events that create damage within the right of way.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  Just one final question, and this is really for, I think, Ms. Walding.  Is NextBridge completely opposed to an earning sharing mechanism in the context of your rate plan?

MS. WALDING:  In the context of our rate plan, what we proposed is in our application.  So we believe that we have proposed is what should be acceptable in terms of the custom incentive rate plan.

MS. GIRVAN:  You don't support an earnings sharing mechanism?

MS. WALDING:  No, we don't.  We put into our application the 300 basis point that we would be subject to regulatory review of our earnings.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all my questions.  I'll put myself on mute.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  We'll take our first morning break now.  It is about 10:30, so we will resume at 10:40.  See you then.
--- Recess taken at 10:28 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:45 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Welcome back, everyone.  We're now going to go to Energy Probe and Dr. Higgin.
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and Commissioners and the NextBridge witnesses.  So I'll be using my compendium, which is up now, and a couple of other exhibits, which I think are ready, so can we just get the exhibit number for the compendium, please.

MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray, OEB Staff.  EP's compendium will be Exhibit K2.2.  
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

So if we can go to page 2 of the compendium, and to the bottom, which talks about the deferral accounts, and I just had a couple of remaining questions about the construction cost variation account, okay?  Just to clarify and confirm with you that the items that will be recorded in here include the irrigation construction costs up to the in-service date, the COVID-19, as was discussed this morning, and related capital costs, and then additional transmission capital expenditures during those years, which amounts a total of 4.5 million gross or 3.7 million net.  Am I correct about that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, you are correct.  Ms. Weinstein, can you confirm the numbers that Mr. Higgin is mentioning for the third type of account?  So the first --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yup --


MS. TIDMARSH:  -- account you mentioned was the COVID costs, the second account are any construction cost variance account -- construction costs that are in addition to the 737 to be disposed of after COD, and the third one Ms. Weinstein is going to speak to now.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, do you just mind repeating the numbers you had stated?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yeah, no, my numbers were for the total capital expenditures, which were called TSP expenditures, with gross --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yeah --


DR. HIGGIN:  -- 4.05 gross, 3.7 net of depreciation.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  So that's not accurate for how we would use the construction cost variance account.  The numbers you are referring to are part of our capital expenditure plan, part of our TSP, and those we are not seeking recovery from during the IR term.

At our next rate basing we would bring forward the depreciated net book value to be included in our rate base at that time, but the capital expenditure plan in the TSP will not be put into the construction cost variance account during the IR term.

DR. HIGGIN:  So how will you be recording those expenditures?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  They will be outside of our rate base.  They will be recorded as construction costs and plant in-service from an accounting perspective.  However, they will not be part of rates over the IR term.  We are proposing to keep them outside of rates until we rebase at the end of the IR term.  They will not be recovered during the IR term.

DR. HIGGIN:  And so they will not even be in the construction cost variation account, correct?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  That is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So --


MS. TIDMARSH:  I would like to add -- pardon me.  I would like to add, there is a third bucket that is going in our construction cost variance account, and Ms. Weinstein can elaborate.  So it's the COVID costs, construction costs, and then the third amount that has to do with our environmental cost.  Ms. Weinstein.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  That's correct.  There are three prongs to what we would use this variance account for.  The third one, as Ms. Tidmarsh mentioned, is for any environmental costs we incur as a direct result of construction that happen during the IR term.  I also want to just point out to be clear we are not putting the capital costs into this construction cost variance account.  The difference in revenue requirement due to those three types of capital expenditures is what would go into the variance account.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, no, I understand how the account would work.  So the question is, when you come in to clear this, can you just clarify that you're going to do that in 2023 and record the amount in 2-24 rates.  When you're doing that what actually will remain, if anything, in the account after that?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  So we propose to dispose of this account twice.  The first, as you mention, is after our second annual update following the in-service date so that we have audited balances to bring forward for prudency review.  At that point in time we would dispose of the full balance in the account, and then the second disposition that we had proposed at the end of the IR term would be used for the costs incurred after that initial disposition through to the end of the IR term.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And during that period you're keeping [audio dropout] so I know it's not --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry to interrupt, I'm sorry to interrupt, Mr. Higgin, but your connection is cutting out and I'm missing what you're saying.

DR. HIGGIN:  So after the initial clearance of the account, what are you going to be recording in that period from 2024 beyond?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  So I'd like to point to the application, and if you give me one moment I will give you the section.  I believe this is in our Exhibit H, our deferral and variance account section, where we describe the three types in the construction cost variance account.  If you give me one moment I will find that and then give you the reference for us to pull up on the screen.  So it is going to be Exhibit H, tab 1, Schedule 1.  And then it would be page 2 of 5.

DR. HIGGIN:  So my question is, what are --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yup.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- you going to be recording after the initial clear -- what will be recorded in that account?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Sure.  So based on the application we do explain this in Exhibit H, tab 1, Schedule 1, starting on page 3 and 4.  These would be the costs related to the environmental requirements, such as our overall benefits permit, which was the first of its kind, and the amended environmental assessment, or EA.  

Those costs are expected to happen all the way through the IR term up to ten years after the in-service date.  But all of those costs are a direct result of those two permits we had to obtain to begin and complete construction, and those costs are ongoing through the ten-year IR term to satisfy those construction requirements.  That's described on page 3, which is shown here.  We expect those costs to continue through the IR term.

DR. HIGGIN:  And those are then expected to be capital amounts; is that correct?  Or capital --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  That's correct.  These are related to construction.  They are satisfying the final requirements of our construction permits that we would just need to be completing through years two through ten.  It's unlike O&M, which would be an ongoing maintenance activity.  These are one-time requirements that we need to satisfy for the permits, just tied to our initial construction activities.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much --


MR. RAFFENBERG:  So I think I can just -- I can give a little more detail on that.  So for example, right now during construction one of the requirements of our overall benefits permit is to build rock piles.  These piles are for bats to use as habitats.  So that's a one-time cost, as Ms. Weinstein said.  But as I mentioned yesterday, there is a requirement that we develop a caribou transfer plan, which gets implemented in those out years, and we can't predict exactly when it's going to happen or the level of effort, and so they are one-time costs, just like those rock piles I described for the bats.  So they would -- that's why we've included them in this as capital.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much for that response.

My next topic is to go to my -- the rate handbook, and I have a couple of questions about that, and I ask that we could start on section 6, which I think is page 23, and we have that up on the screen.  Thank you very much.  So my questions relate to this part of the handbook.

So as you see on this page, it first of all addresses the requirements for electricity distributors and under that it talks about price cap IR.  So that's the first thing I draw to people's attention.  It's not applicable here.

So could we go down to look at the section that deals -- on the next page, that deals with transmission, electricity transmitters.  This says they can choose either the custom IR or revenue cap IR.  And the revenue cap IR methodology is similar to the price cap IR discussed previously for distributors -- do you see that -- and therefore at the bottom of that paragraph it says:
"Therefore, instead of a price cap IR, the transmitter can propose an incentive mechanism for adjusting its revenue requirement in a similar manner."


And that's basically what you have proposed, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So can we just go to page 25 and look at the section that deals with -- keep going down -- specific considerations, okay.  Now, do you agree this section applies to both distributors and transmitters?

MR. VEGH:  It's George Vegh here, Dr. Higgin.  It may be helpful if you ask specific -- I don't think the witnesses have memorized every section.

DR. HIGGIN:  The reason I'm looking -- the first thing is this is applicable to transmitters.  That was the gist of my question.  And I assume that the witnesses would agree.

MR. VEGH:  The witnesses agreed earlier that they have applied for a custom IR.  There may be differences between distributors and transmitters and that Board has adjusted to in various cases.

Again, I'm not sure what you're looking for here.

DR. HIGGIN:  I'm looking at framework here, Mr. Vegh.  So it says here that a custom IR must have a minimum -- minimum, that's the word -- term of 5 years, and it goes through the reasons for that.  And then it says, as you realize, longer terms can be proposed with appropriate mechanisms for consumer protection as discussed below.  Do you see that wording?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I see that wording.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Then we come to the second bullet, and it says at the bottom of that paragraph:  "These incentive elements, including a productivity factor, must be incorporated through a custom index or explicit revenue reduction over the term of the plan not built into the cost forecast."  

Do you see that?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, I see that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Would you agree that your RCI proposal meets those requirements or not?

MS. WALDING:  I would take you to -- if we could pull up the filing requirements for electricity transmitter applications.  Do you have that available, chapter 2?

DR. HIGGIN:  I don't have it.  Kim?  Okay.  I'm reading from a section on page 3 of that.  It says: 
"OEB will require from transmitters applying for approval of revenue requirements under a custom IR or revenue cap application a proposal to mitigate the potential for any significant earning by the transmitter above the regulatory net income supported by the approved return on equity, such as a capital variance account or earnings sharing mechanism."


We have proposed the 300 basis point to mitigate any potential over-earnings.  So we believe for the transmitter specifically we have met the framework.

DR. HIGGIN:  But you have not, as you discussed with mister -- a proposed earning sharing mechanism; correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, we have not.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MS. WALDING:  We don't believe that is required.

DR. HIGGIN:  So can we turn to page 4 of the compendium?  So this is -- unfortunately, the title is off, but it's Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, table 1, and it shows the base year revenue requirement, you'd agree.

So as set out in the rate handbook, the test year, 2022, is a cost of service test year.  You would agree on that, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That's correct, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Can you tell us how the revenue requirement in table 1 is calculated?  Is it simple regulatory 101, you know, it starts with a rate base times rate average cost of capital, et cetera.

Can you just go through those components and say how that revenue requirement of 55.7 is calculated?

MS. WALDING:  Okay.  So are you asking me to go through each of those line items shown here.  Is that the request?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that's the request is to show what the formula, I'll say then, for regulatory 101 is for cost of service?

MS. WALDING:  I'm still not understanding your question.  As we've laid out -- we can go to the calculations here if you'd like to see what's composed of the 41 million, as an example.  We can do that and go to that part of the application.

DR. HIGGIN:  So maybe we can confirm the 41 million is the multiple of the gross book values assets average times the weighted average cost of capital, correct?

MS. WALDING:  If we can move to Exhibit G, it's outlined in Exhibit G.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MS. WALDING:  Do you have our application open so you can go to Exhibit G?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, I don't.

MS. WALDING:  I'm asking -- if we go further down, we can see the exact calculations that were used.

This is the derivation of the 41 million we were requesting.  It has the long-term debt component.  It starts with the total rate base, you can see there the 770.4, and applies the percentage appropriate for each element.  And so it has a long-term debt, 56 percent of that number, the short-term debt at 4 percent of that number, and then it shows the common equity makes up the difference of 40 percent and it's multiplied by the 2020 OEB factors for each component, and that's the derivation of the 41 million.

DR. HIGGIN:  The other items are expenses to be reduced a certain way, the OM&A and the depreciation and the income tax, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So as a hypothetical, if you requested not what you asked for, but a multi year cost of service, what components would change going into the subsequent years?  What would change?

MS. WALDING:  I can't really speculate on that because we did not propose the cost-of-service application.

DR. HIGGIN:  So would OM&A change or not?  You don't know?

MS. WALDING:  OM&A would go up in a cost-of-service application because, as we've talked about before, there is at least a 3 percent inflation we're expecting through the cost in that.  So the OM&A would definitely go up.

DR. HIGGIN:  And as you just said yesterday, 3 percent.  You also said it was a pass-through; do you agree with that?

MS. WALDING:  In a cost of service -- in a typical cost-of-service application, that is normally a pass through.  But it is based off of what you've spent.  So it's not just the 3 percent.  It's any other things that could potentially happen during that time period that you have to -- that you have to recover for.  So those are all included in recovery of the OM&A as well.

DR. HIGGIN:  So -- but that has to be -- meets then regulatory requirements, just and reasonable, prudently incurred, known, and measurable; is that correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So can we just look at Table 3 on this page, please.  This is Exhibit E, tab 1, Schedule 1, page 2.  This is on the compendium, page 4, okay?  Okay.

So this shows the base and annual revenue requirement claims that you have put forward totalling the 610.7 million that was discussed yesterday; is that correct?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, subject to check that number.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So can we now turn to the revised Energy Probe spreadsheet next and give that an exhibit, if you can pull that up, please.

MR. MURRAY:  This is Lawren Murray for OEB Staff, and the revised spreadsheet will be given the Exhibit No. K2.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  ENERGY PROBE REVISED SPREADSHEET.

DR. HIGGIN:  So at the top where you see the projection, which is your RCI proposal, there is a little bit of a rounding error, but leaving aside the rounding error, that's the number that we just talked about, 610.7 million, at the top.  Do you agree with that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, subject to check.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Now, I'm not going to go through the bottom, because this was my very rough attempt at coming up with the cost-of-service projection, and you spent a great deal of time with Mr. Rubenstein on his model.  His model is much more sophisticated and is more correct than mine, and we adopt it.

So the question I have is how do you provide anywhere in evidence the forecast actual as opposed to allowed annual returns on equity for your rate cap index?  Is that anywhere in evidence?

MS. WALDING:  I apologize.  I did not follow the question.  Would you please repeat the question again?

DR. HIGGIN:  So looking at your rate cap index formula and the projection at the top -- that's yours -- did you ever put in evidence the annual returns on equity during the term of the plan?  Have you done that?  Have you provided that in evidence?  I don't find it.

MS. WALDING:  No, and I just want to clarify we're in custom IR application, so is what we've applied for, but, yes, we did not provide that in evidence.

DR. HIGGIN:  So are you willing to provide this or are you not?

MS. WALDING:  I don't see the need.  Our application has been deemed complete.  And so I don't think that we have the need to provide that, as well as you and Mr. Rubenstein have done calculations here.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, you're saying we are left with accepting Mr. Rubenstein's calculations on ROE at row 60 of his spreadsheet.  Is that what you're saying?  You're not willing to put that on the record?

MS. WALDING:  No, that's not what I'm saying.  As I pointed out when I was discussing this with Mr. Rubenstein yesterday, I pointed out that it doesn't include the off-ramp that we've established of the 300 basis points, and so it is not correct, and so I do not -- we have a complete application, and, you know, I do not agree with Mr. Rubenstein's -- so we do not --


DR. HIGGIN:  So you rejected Mr. Rubenstein's, not only calculations for certain reasons, including taking the 300 basis points off-ramp in 2028 on his spreadsheet.  Am I correct?

MS. WALDING:  Subject to check, that sounds about right.

DR. HIGGIN:  So isn't hitting an ROE of plus-300 basis points in 2028 in conflict with the ten-year term?

MS. WALDING:  No, it's not, because as we've talked about, we have a lot of exposure on this project.  It's a 450-kilometre project that is going to require a lot of first-time things to be done in this particular territory.  So Ms. Tidmarsh, if you would like to add more to that.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Ms. Walding.  And so when we talk about our OM&A costs, and the differences that Ms. Walding was talking about in a cost-of-service model, which is not what we had proposed, that OM&A would go up.  We're keeping our OM&A at our test year, and we're trying to manage multiple risks, and we've talked a lot about the risks, and we've gone through them with Mr. Rubenstein and with Ms. Girvan, about all of the additive things that could add to the additional OM&A costs that don't meet the Z factor threshold, so for example, additions to First Nations reserves, potential weather events, we added information in there.  I don't have the IR in front of 
me --


DR. HIGGIN:  So --


MS. TIDMARSH:  -- we did go through them --


DR. HIGGIN:  Can I please -- going to go --


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, Dr. Higgin, the witness hasn't finished her answer yet.  Perhaps --


DR. HIGGIN:  I know, but I have time, and I'm going to go to that topic, and that's all I'm saying.

MR. VEGH:  You've asked the witnesses to comment on a hypothetical cost-of-service application which hasn't been prepared and asked about a difference between cost-of-service and custom IR, and I think this has been all answered, but if you are going to ask the questions, then you have the give the witnesses the time to give an answer.

DR. HIGGIN:  I didn't ask that question, did I, in the first place.  I was asking about the ROE that -- for the years up to 2028.  That was my question.

MR. VEGH:  I believe that question has been answered.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So that's fine.  So can you provide your calculation or not of the projected actual ROE for the years from 2022 to 2028?  This is your projection.

MS. WALDING:  That is impossible, because we do not know if we did have overearnings of 300 basis points.  We do not know what that ROE is.  It would be subject to a reset, and we don't -- we can't forecast what the ROE is going to be in 2028, nor our debt cost that we would be resetting at that time period as well, nor our OM&A, so we don't have a lot of the components of what you're asking me to do.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So can we go to page 5 of the compendium, please.  This is the OM&A exhibit, and it has been discussed extensively.

So leaving aside -- we're going to start by leaving aside the Indigenous participation and compliance costs, which aren't in issue in this case for us, that leaves the remainder, which is 3.61 million, and it's been discussed several times what is included and still trying to clarify exactly what is included in those amounts.  And the second question will be how this relates to the Charles River Associates benchmarking.

So can we start by just confirming again what the operations and maintenance costs of 1.27 million includes, and if you want a reference, the Staff 29 has that.  I have these numbers:  HONI Supercom contract 400,000, NEET contract 268,000, and 312,000, other maintenance costs, and that's what I'm asking about.  That's the remainder.  What are those 312,000 costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can pass this answer on to Mr. Mayers.  I would like if we could bring up the IR.  Dr. Higgin, can you repeat the IR?  Excellent.  Thank you, Jillian.  We have it.  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.  We have it.  
So Mr. Mayers can actually go through -- I believe in the response to A in C is what you're looking for, the expense for maintenance services not included in the HONI service-level agreement, including services identified -- pardon me, it's on my screen -- response to Staff 15 and Staff 23D, the 312.

So Mr. Mayers, could you expand on the 312 and if needed go to Staff 15 and Staff 23?

DR. HIGGIN:  Also, Staff 29 has it as well.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's where we are, Dr. Higgin.  We're on Staff 29.

MR. MAYERS:  Can we start by going to Staff 23.  Mr. Higgin, you are explicitly requesting the 312,000?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I'm trying to understand what that comprises, and I think we've been through all the other ones.  It's this 312 that is leaving me a little confused now.

MR. MAYERS:  I believe we had some of our EMS support services system operation services, that's the monitoring services from our Austin office, the communication links associated with that.  We've got technical training that's required of that.  We also have -- I believe the offices may be included, the office expense and I'll let Ms. Weinstein also corroborate.  But we have vehicle expenses, the employees -- the two NEET employees will need to have vehicles, two trucks actually.  We're going to need to have ATVs to get off-road.  A lot of our right of way is only accessible by ATV, and we are going to have to have the necessary tools for both safety and for doing work.  There's fuel charges related to the vehicles.

There's office charges related to the expenses of having room for the employees so they can meet, so they can have room to store their tools and their vehicles, as well as some minor spare parts.

DR. HIGGIN:  Is this under contract with NEET again, or is it part of the NEET contract?  That's the confusion I have.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I can add to this, if we go back to Staff 29.  I want to point out that was second page under there that wasn't showing up on the screen that I think helps complete the answer.

We see A through D right there, but there is another page that helps you get to the total of 1.2 million. I want to make sure we're including that.

And as Mr. Mayers was pointing out and I think what your question just was how that relates to the NEET agreement.  Letter A is for the NEET agreement which would include the labour of the two employees mentioned.  Item B is the HONI SLA, which we've discussed.  Then item C and then E are some of the other items Mr. Mayers was discussing, such as office rent, supplies, utilities, trucks, ATV rentals, fuel, cell phones, satellite phones, control centre, EMS monitoring, operator and switching training.

Those are the things that would fall outside of the NEET agreement and the HONI SLA, which are the 312 and the 295 you see on the other page.

DR. HIGGIN:  Is there a contract related to those, or are those costs being managed directly by the operator?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I think you would need to answer those individually.  Something as simple as a cell phone would not be contracted.  We would have a lease for the office, and then the vehicles would have rental agreements.  So I think they are not part of the NEET agreement you see in letter A.  I think individually, they would need to be evaluated to answer that question properly.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think that helps me understand.  I would like to go now to page 6 of the compendium, and this is one of the other items that was in the prior table.

It picks up the taxes, what are the taxes.  So this is an amount of .6 million a year that is included in the OM&A, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  This is tab 4, Schedule 2, page 9.  So below this is another exhibit, which is tab -- sorry, Exhibit F, tab 6, Schedule 1, and this sets out shared services and corporate cost allocation categories.

My first question is does this add to the 1.67 million in compliance and administration costs, these services?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  The first sentence in this paragraph is articulating that we actually are not pushing down a shared service corporate cost allocation from any parent or partner entities.  Independent of that, any services received from parent or partner entities would be direct charged to the project, and part of that compliance and administration budget you're referring to of 1.67 million.

For example, if an accountant spends one hour working on NextBridge, they will go into their time sheet and specifically charge NextBridge for one hour of labour, and that's the exact cost that would hit the project.

We're using a direct charge, not an allocation for corporate and shared services.

DR. HIGGIN:  At the bottom of the page, we get some more detail on the 1.67.  This is in response to Exhibit I, NextBridge Staff 30.  If we go over the page to page 7, we actually see some -- go to page 10 and I'm going to focus on the highlighted costs.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Page 7?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, page 7.  That's what I was talking about, okay.

So you just discussed and we agreed on 1.67 and the breakdown.  So the question I'm going to focus on is the project director's office budget is 627,000.  The corporate services amount is 558,000, and non-Indigenous stakeholder relations of 254,000.

So these add up to 1.439 million.  Do you have some further details on these?  Are there or will there be service level agreements for these services I've just mentioned?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'll begin with the answer.  I'll start with the project director's office.  So that line, that 627,000, so as part of that line item, there are expenses in there for the office.  So that's not part of service level agreement.  There's costs in there for our annual audit, so those are not part of the service level agreement.

There are also costs in there for labour, so labour from the project director's office.  Those labour costs are part of the NEET service level agreement, the NEET SLA.  So under the NEET SLA, those labour charges are part of the service level agreement.

DR. HIGGIN:  How much is that out of the 627?  Can you clarify?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's part of --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  Sorry, go ahead.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Ms. Weinstein, continue.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I think that's actually part of the undertaking we are preparing for Mr. Rubenstein.  I think it answers the same question of how much of our OM&A is going to be part of the NEET agreement.  So I think once we prepare and provide that, that would also answer this question.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.  Shall I continue, Dr. Higgin?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, you can move perhaps to one of the other two categories I was interested in, the non-Indigenous stakeholder relations.  What does that include, and is there an agreement about that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So as part of the non-Indigenous stakeholder relations, included in that would be our customer outreach.  So again, those are annual mailings to all of our landholders, municipalities, people in the area.  It's the support for our website, the hosting of our website and of our social media as well is included in that.

Also included in this is labour costs, and again, back to Ms. Weinstein's point, those labour costs are included in the NEET service level agreement and will be part of the undertaking that we are preparing.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So can we move down to the 558,000 in corporate services and indicate what those are and if there is an agreement or if they're in part of the NEET as well.  Could you expand on that, please?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can.  I can begin, and Ms. Weinstein can add to this one.

So again, this is part of our corporate services.  These are for our accounting costs, so our business management analysts to help manage our costs, so it's our accounting pieces, as well as managing the project.

Ms. Weinstein, would you like to start talking about some of the activities under corporate services?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Sure.  So as Ms. Tidmarsh mentioned, the corporate-services bucket is primarily labour-related for our accounting functions, tax functions, financial reporting, all internal activities, to ensure the entity is properly accounting for everything and reporting on that as well and just maintaining the overall financial health and budgeting and forecasting activities, and as I mentioned before, these will be direct charges from the staff actually working on the project.  We use essentially a time-sheet approach to directly charge every hour of our time to a specific project to ensure that only relevant costs hit each project.

DR. HIGGIN:  So is that part of the NEET agreement or not?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, these would be --

MS. TIDMARSH:  Those are costs -- apologies, Ms. Weinstein.  Please go.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Oh.  Ms. Tidmarsh was correct.  These are labour costs from internal partner entities, so they would be part of the NEET agreement.

DR. HIGGIN:  Does this --

MS. WALDING:  And I would -- I would just like to add that the audit piece -- I don't think Ms. Weinstein pointed those out specifically.  They are included as well in that corporate-services number, and those are done externally of the NEET agreement.  Is that correct, Ms. Weinstein?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  So the audit and the rent is included within the compliance and administration of the 1.67 million, and the audit would be external, so that it's an independent opinion.

DR. HIGGIN:  Is there a board of directors costs included in corporate services?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  No, there is not --

MS. TIDMARSH:  [Audio dropout] breakdown.

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear anyone.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can begin and then Ms. Weinstein can add.

So NextBridge's Board of Directors does not charge any of their costs to our operations and maintenance.  However, the costs in the project director's office for the project director to oversee the governance of the line would be included.  The direct costs from NextBridge's Board of Directors are not included.

Ms. Weinstein, did you want to add?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I was also just confirming that we are not putting project director's office also in corporate services when you look at this breakdown of letter I through V.  Those total up to 1.67 million, so they are not duplicates within each line item shown on this page.

DR. HIGGIN:  I think that helps clarify that.  I'll be looking for the [audio dropout].

Can we move now to the benchmarking operations and maintenance costs, which is on my compendium at page 11 of the compendium.  I'm going to start at the bottom of the page, and this is Exhibit B, tab 1, Schedule 7, Table 2 from the Charles Rivers Associates study.

Now, the study includes that the OM&A costs per kilometre for the East-West Tie remain more than the benchmarks, even under the forecasting sensitivity tests, and the rates were found to be cost-competitive to Bruce to Milton and Niagara reinforcement.

And if you look at the table, that's what originally you would see from the table.  However, I would like to understand the line which is admin and corporate.  Now, just to be clear, for terminology, is this the same as we had the compliance and administration costs that we were looking at in Staff 30 before?  Is that the same number?

MS. TIDMARSH:  These questions will be answered by Mr. Russo.  There's a footnote as well.  Could you scroll down?  Sorry, I can't see it completely.

DR. HIGGIN:  There is no footnote.  I'm sorry.  Not on --

MS. TIDMARSH:  Oh.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- this exhibit.

MR. RUSSO:  Good morning.  I do have a clarifying question.  This is Mr. Russo speaking.  This Table 2 appears to actually be excerpted from NextEra's application.  To be clear, the corresponding table in my report is Figure 10, and the footnote numbers are different.  In particular, footnote number 14 is in my table.  Footnote number 5 is in the table on the screen.  So I just want to clarify the source of the table you're presenting, sir.

DR. HIGGIN:  It came from the evidence.  I think I said where it was.  Exhibit B, tab 1, Schedule 7, Table 2.

MR. RUSSO:  I'm looking at Exhibit B, tab 1, Schedule 7, attachment 1, page 16.  The table that was on the screen a moment ago had footnote number 5, admin and corporate.  This has footnote number 14 for admin and corporate.  Footnote 14 corresponds with Exhibit B, tab 1, Schedule 7, attachment 1.  The prior table you had on the screen appears to have come from a different source.

DR. HIGGIN:  I don't know where I lifted it from, but it was from the evidence.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I believe that's in the O&M exhibit, the OM&A exhibit in the operating expenses, but I believe the table is the same, it's just formatted differently.  So I think your question was on the 1.665 for admin and corporate, if that's the same as the previous OM&A table we had looked at?  Is that correct, your question?

DR. HIGGIN:  Compliance and administration cost.  I just want to ask if that's the same category and the same number?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, so speaking just to the far right column for East-West Tie, just confirming the first three numbers.  Those are the same as from our operating expense exhibit, the table we had previously looked at, the 1.275, 1665, and then the 65, these are just rounded to the thousands, where our table was in the millions.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So my next question, having done that, we've already been through the OM&A expenses, and I don't think I need to confirm, but if you wish, that's the same number we've been looking at, the 1.27, correct?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, that's the same as from the OM&A exhibit as well.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's right.  Thank you.  So basically, my question on this exhibit relates to the admin and corporate, and the fact is that if we look at that line we find the admin and corporate the highest of the three, and it is actually three times the lowest amount, which is the Niagara.  I put it to you that this is not a function of the length of the line, but why is that so high, 1.665, compared to the others?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can begin the answer, and if Mr. Russo wants to add in or Ms. Weinstein.

At this point our 1665 corporate and admin, we've detailed what's part of that, and so we have detailed information.  I'm not aware of the detailed information that's part of Bruce to Milton or Niagara as part of the corporate and admin.  However, we have mentioned a few times about a single asset.  And so NextBridge has a single asset that's not part of a network pool, and so NextBridge will be managing the line, a single line.  However, despite this cost being larger than Niagara and Bruce to Milton, NextBridge is still when benchmarked has been keeping the other parts of its OM&A competitive compared to these two prices -- these two projects, sorry.

Mr. Russo, did you want to add anything?

MR. RUSSO:  I'm not sure I have anything to augment that.  Ms. Tidmarsh's answer was fairly complete, I thought.  We adopted the costs that were provided to us by NextBridge in order to conduct the OM&A benchmarking.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Can we move up the page a bit and go to the table there that comes from Exhibit D, Schedule 1, tab 1, and the performance measures?  This is in my compendium and it's on page 11, and it is the second of the tables on page 11.  Do you see that?  Thank you.

Again just to repeat, it's Exhibit D, tab 1, Schedule 1, performance measures.  I'm just asking this question about the operational excellence that's specifically about the average system availability percentage.

So can you just confirm that you're proposing an average system availability of 95 percent in your evidence, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would like to see it if possible.  Can we bring up Exhibit D, tab 1, Schedule 1, please?

DR. HIGGIN:  I guess it's the same.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I know, Dr. Higgin, but I would like to see it in context.  Thank you.

So in this average system availability -- if we can scroll down.  Keep going, please, looking for the heading average system availability.  Yes, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry.  The 99 percent was the average system availability that we submitted.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe that's part of one of the interrogatories, the answers to one of the interrogatories wasn't 95; I believe it was 99.

First, I wanted to explain a little bit more about our average system availability and it's not here.  It's in section B, but in the interests of time, we can move on.

Mr. Mayers, do you know which IR it was that we outlined that it was 99 and not 95?

MR. MAYERS:   I believe D11, but let me double check.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe it's an interrogatory, though.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, my number here from the original evidence and I think you may have updated it in the interrogatory.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  It's in -- Staff 59, part C.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Excellent.  Thank you, Ms. Weinstein.  I don't recognize the 95, but the 99 is in here.  There we go -- there it is, thank you.  So yes, I can confirm that it is 99 percent availability.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So that means in terms of time out would be three-and-a-half days.  Is my math roughly correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm sorry, Dr. Higgin, I don't know how you got to that math.

DR. HIGGIN:  It was 365 times 99 comes to three-and-a-half days.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think -- thank you, Dr. Higgin.  I do think, though, there are other reasons for system outages.  So it may not be 365.  But I can pass this on to Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, I think what he was saying, Ms. Tidmarsh, is if you just do 99 percent available times 365 days a year, you get approximately four days per year, three-and-a-half to four days per year that we would have the system unavailable.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think, Mr. Mayers, what I would like you to discuss here is about average system availability and that 365 days a year isn't how we would calculate this metric, is that correct?

We would be calculating this metric on -- so for example, if the line needed to be out for an IESO, if we're ordered to have a line as an outage, average system availability is about NextBridge's availability as opposed to backing out the days where we are ordered or required to be out.  Is that correct, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, that is correct.  If we had to take the line out of service, that wouldn't be counted against this system availability.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.  So Dr. Higgin, I don't agree with your three-day calculation.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So what is the target then expressed in either days, hours, or something?  What is, what is the NextBridge target?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the target for NextBridge is 99 percent availability where NextBridge with those outages that -- if you back out the outages NextBridge is required to take for the IESO, NextBridge is 99 percent available and reliable for those dates.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  My last questions go to the question of cost pressures and risks, and there has been a lot of discussion on this.  And there is the list and so on.

So the problem I'm having is trying to understand these pressures better.  So I'm going to ask you if you can provide your list of cost pressures, either qualitative or there is a number quantitative, and provide that to us, and first of all, which are the capital related cost pressures.  And as part of that, is there a provision to address these, such as the construction cost variance account or Spares, or are they unbudgeted?

So that's for the capital, and the same for the annual operating and maintenance expense pressure, is there a provision or is it just the increase in O&M in the RCI and the 170,000 that you had mentioned yesterday?  So can you help us put this in one place so that we will understand these pressures and whether there is or is not a provision for these?

MR. VEGH:  Sorry to interrupt.  Dr. Higgin, I think you had like six different questions in there.  If you could break them down, one by one --


DR. HIGGIN:  I'm going to start with your list of cost pressures which was discussed.  And I'm saying they were both qualitative and may be quantitative, but some are capital related and some are operating and maintenance cost pressures.

So that's the first question: can you divide it into the two?

MS. TIDMARSH:  What Ms. Weinstein and I can do is we will start with construction, and then we can go to OM&A.

So as part of our construction costs and the cost pressures that we may see as part of our construction costs, NextBridge at this point has 90 percent of its -- we talked about uncertainties yesterday, and NextBridge at this point has 90 percent of its costs have been contracted for and we are 60 percent of our way through our costing, and we have one year left on our project for construction.

NextBridge has outlined in all of its quarterly Reports, we have a risk analysis table at the back much each one of its quarterly reports.  And as part of those risk analysis, NextBridge has outlined all the potential risks to the project.

For example, as part of those risks we have pandemic related costs, so risk to NextBridge.  We also recently added system outages, not being able to get proper system outages with the IESO.  Actually in Hydro One's recent quarterly report, we discuss there was a discussion on low water levels in the northwest, and working through with the IESO being able to get our system outages.  So that's a risk that we add to those tables.  So I think that's the one part.

Ms. Weinstein, did you want to add anything more about risks and cost pressures for the construction part of the project?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  No, I just wanted to clarify from an accounting perspective.  The list of risks you're referring to that we reviewed earlier, those are not expected to be capital expenditures and if they were, they would not be part of our rate base.  As we mentioned, we are not seeking recovery for our capital plan through the IR term.  The exception would be if a material event happened that qualified for a Z factor.  That would be treated accordingly.  But the list of cost pressures that you're referring to are primarily related to OM&A, as they are --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  -- as for the project is in-service.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.  So dealing still with the construction part of Dr. Higgin's question on how those cost pressures -- so those risks to costs for the construction part, those would be dealt with in our construction cost variance account if there was any additional costs on the CCVA, and those will be disposed of for -- after our second annual update and subject to a prudency review at that time.  So that's under construction.

Under OM&A -- so again, we've talked about this a few times, and there has been a list that was brought through 

-- brought up, sorry, and we went through it with SEC and CCC on all of the potential increases to the OM&A budget, and so those are the risks that we face under our OM&A costs, and those costs is what NextBridge is saying, those costs will be internalized and absorbed by NextBridge as part of this application, so anything that's increasing those costs below the Z factor account -- again, each one of those costs is additive below the Z factor account -- those would be absorbed by NextBridge.

So Ms. Weinstein, do you want to talk about the accounting treatment difference in those costs, expense versus capital?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yup.  So as Ms. Tidmarsh mentioned, if it's during the construction phase it would be treated as capital and ran through our construction cost variance account at the disposition.  If this were to occur after the in-service date and no longer a part of the construction phase, these incidents would be treated as OM&A and subject to our budget and then potential pressures on our OM&A budget.  If a material event occurred in excess of our threshold, which is currently estimated to be 278,000, it would potentially be treated as a Z factor at that time.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Just one clarification to your answer.  We discussed previously that after clearing the CCVA in 2023 there would be additional capital costs.  You have listed a couple of -- three things, including environmental, and then also you do have spares to deal with contingencies, correct?  You've got -- so you do have some provisions --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  So this -- no, the spares are being purchased prior to the in-service date and are part of our opening rate-base balance, so that is not a cost we would be incurring through the IR term after the in-service date.  The 1.2 million in spares from our rate-base exhibit is expected to be in our opening rate-base balance as planned in-service.

DR. HIGGIN:  But the other ones that we went through earlier, which were the environmental costs going forward, those had -- you said they were capital and they would be recorded in the account.  Am I wrong?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  We do expect those environmental costs to come in throughout the IR terms, years two through ten, essentially, after that initial disposition.  We expect them to be capital and go through the construction cost variance account.  That is the one exception that we do have outlined in the application for post in-service capex.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Thank you.  I just wanted to be clear that we had included that as part of a provision that you were making for those costs, so that's it, so thank you for your responses, panel, and I'm out of time, and thank you again, Mr. Chair [audio dropout]


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.

We will now take our second morning break.  It's 11:50 now, so we would be back at twelve o'clock.  See you then.
--- Recess taken at 11:50 a.m.
--- On resuming at 12:04 p.m.


DR. ELSAYED:  I think next is VECC, Mr. Garner.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Good morning, Commissioners and panel.  My name is Mark Garner, and I represent the Vulnerable Energy Consumer Coalition, known as VECC.  I have filed a compendium, and perhaps we can ask that be marked as an exhibit, please.

MR. MURRAY:  VECC's compendium will be marked Exhibit K2.4. 
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  VECC COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Just for edification, I put tabs in the compendium, but I may be referring to page numbers and mine aren't separately tabulated.  So when I am referring to page numbers, I will be referring to the PDF page for the page number.

And also just to help things along, generally I'm going to direct my questions to you, Ms. Tidmarsh, and I'll let you direct traffic.  I'm sure that's a skill you've picked up over the years.

Another thing I will try, not to stop anybody, but I'll raise my hand if I remember just want to speak.  So I'll try not to over-speak over anybody else, so you get an idea when I'm about to talk.  I'll see if that helps us along in any fashion.

So the first place I'm going to go is in the first tab, and I'm not going to go to a lot of specific pages in this.  But what I was trying to do here was to put together two decisions because unfortunately in your evidence and other places, there is a lot of discussion about the EB- 2017-0182 et al decision.  But in fact, there's actually two decisions.  They both unfortunately have, I think, the same numbers, but two different dates.  One is the 2018 one which I'm going to call the leave to construct decision; that's the first one.  And the next one is the February 11, 2019, one which I'm going to call the Order-in-Council or the OIC decision, which actually comes just after and just so I can -- we can have nomenclature we can refer to together.

Ms. Tidmarsh, in the leave-to-construct decision, the 2018 decision, am I correct that the -- what we now refer to as the phase shift cost of 5.53 million dollars -- sorry, the development costs.  Pardon me, I'll start again.

The development cost of 31.24 million dollars, that wasn't actually what you were seeking at that time.  It was actually 40.2 million dollars, wasn't it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. GARNER:  And when the Board wrote that decision, it said we'll give you the 31.24, and then it referred to this 5.331 million you're seeking recovery of now as these phase shift costs.

But as I understand the way that decision was written -- and I'm looking for your interpretation, but my interpretation of the way that decision was written it was saying that you could seek to recover those costs in the context of putting forward what they called then a not to exceed price, the NTE price I think what they used for it.  Is that what you -- is that your interpretation also?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, it's not our interpretation.  So our interpretation of those 5.3 million dollars in phase shift costs are costs that the Board believed were more akin to construction than to development, and that NextBridge could return when it sought -- if NextBridge was granted leave to construct, it could come back and seek recovery of those costs as part of its construction Costs.  And that we're doing as part of this application.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, okay.  And I don't disagree with what you're saying.

But it did say it in the context of when you come back or if you come back, as you say, with your not to exceed price, you can certainly put those forward as a recovery.  Are we agreed on that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It said it would be part of a construction cost.  I don't actually remember the words that would say as part of a not to exceed price.  Is there part of the decision you can point me to there?

MR. GARNER:  The decision is asking you to come forward if you so please with a not to exceed price, yes?  No?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That decision --


MS. WALDING:  I was just going to also add that the development cost, that decision came prior to any decision regarding who was going to get the leave to construct.  So there wasn't any reference to a not to exceed price in the development cost or the phase shift cost, because that was a decision done before the leave to construct applications.  Ms. Tidmarsh, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I agree that the development costs and those phase shift costs were outside of the decision around the not to exceed price and that NextBridge could choose, if it had submitted a not to exceed price, to include those phase shift costs.

However, I didn't see anything in the order specifically addressing that, and I was just asking Mr. Garner if there was anything in there.  But presumably, NextBridge could have included those 5.3 million dollars in phase shift costs in not to exceed price because it was about construction.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  I was asking you because I assumed you were more familiar with what it said than I would have been.  But I take your point and I don't want to belabour it.

Let me go on to ask you a question about prior to the second decision and the OIC decision.  Now, I reviewed the OIC and the directive and I didn't see anything in that that told the Board it was required to accept your construction costs as you put forward in the leave to construct as reasonable.

Am I missing anything in that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I apologize.  Without the OIC or any of the information in front of me, I can't confirm.  But I believe the OIC Order-in-Council was just to grant NextBridge -- was to direct the OEB to put NextBridge's name on the licence for the construction of the East-West Tie.  I don't believe it went into any sort of specific details about costs.

MR. GARNER:  Ms. Tidmarsh, I didn't see it in the evidence and I'm not pointing a finger, but you didn't file in this evidence the OIC or the directive, did you?  Did I miss it anywhere?

To follow-up, and I guess I'm looking at Mr. Vegh, whether you would have objection to putting that on the record just for the completion of the record, so we can see the language around that.

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Garner, I'm having difficulty moving the camera.  These decisions you're referring to, they are not formally in the record.  I think if you look at the OEB's decision around the licence issue following the OIC 

-- you don't take that as part of the record; it's a Board decision.

And similarly, if someone wants to refer to the OIC, I think that's a public document, one which the Board can take official notice of.  So no, I don't think we would be adding to the record, but I wouldn't say those documents are inadmissible either, at least for the Board to take into account in making its decision.

MR. GARNER:  I thought it would be helpful in order to -- in some sense, I am indifferent.  If NextBridge is agreeing there is nothing in the OIC and nothing in the directive that tells the Board that it's to accept the leave to construct costs put forward, then I'm happy to move on.

MR. VEGH:  I think Ms. Tidmarsh's evidence is that the nothing in the OIC or the directive, as far as we are aware, that tells the Board to accept the construction costs.

I think the Board said, and Ms. Tidmarsh said that you will consider the prudence of construction costs in this application.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you.  So we can -- I think we can move on.

The next place I would like to, I think take us, is to tab 3 in my compendium.  There's a number of pages in there, but the page I'm going to focus on just for a moment is page 21, PDF page 21, which is -- it's a summary of the costs back then.  And just below it in my compendium you'll see your actual forecast of construction costs, and they are, I think, remarkably similar.  There's probably I'd say a 100,000-dollar difference between the 736,975.21 in the leave to construct that was discussed, leave to construct, and now your 737.1.  It's a small difference.  I'm not sure anything turns on that difference.  Does anything really turn on that difference other than some refinement between the times of filing those two things?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So no, to answer your question, nothing turns on it.  After NextBridge received its leave-to-construct decision, so the February 11th, 2019 decision, NextBridge did a reforecasting.  So the results of that reforecasting were an additional 100,000 dollars, but also the allocations of its contingency, so nothing -- nothing that NextBridge could point to for that 100,000 dollars.

MR. GARNER:  And when I look at page 21, I believe it is, the page -- on the original comparing costs between the Hydro One and the NextBridge at the time, would I be correct to say the comparable costs -- and I'm not asking you to say they were -- to admit they're as comparable as they might be, but the equivalent type of project that Hydro One would have been looking at is called the around-the-park point, because that's where you've gone, right, you've gone around the park, you're not going through the park?

MS. TIDMARSH:  If we can scroll up a little bit just so I can see the titles on each one of those.  So if you were to compare the kilometres, the NextBridge project is the 443, and the Hydro One around-the-park, which again I would assume, I don't know, is the same routing for the NextBridge project.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And so if I go to now tab 1, page 6, and that's an extraction from the 2018 decision, and you'll see at the third bullet point in there -- I think you just had it.  It's the third bullet point, the last bullet point there.  You'll see a discussion there where the Board talks about the comparables having -- between having two different prices or costs and that, and then it talks here about the satisfactory cost estimates for new -- for changes in the in-service date, and it also had no witness from Valard to speak to changes in the in-service date, et cetera, and that, so it's expressing -- I would ask you to agree or tell me otherwise -- it's expressing in this decision that -- maybe discomfort isn't the word, but that uncertainty it's having between the two utilities' cost structures in here, and outlining something in that -- in here, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would say I'm not sure the sentiment, but the facts are correct in that bullet point.  So the facts are that the in-service date changed to October of 2021, and the facts were that there was no witness from Valard to speak to any of the pricing at that time for the change of the in-service date to 2021.

MR. GARNER:  And you haven't brought anybody from Valard again to speak to any of the construction costs this time, have you?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we have not.  So NextBridge is prepared to speak to the construction costs.  At this point we've worked with Valard over the past three years, four years, and so NextBridge is very aware of its construction costs, and the Valard contract is a fixed-price one, so NextBridge can speak to that.

MR. GARNER:  So what I was struggling with in your application when you were pointing out having to demonstrate the prudency and leading from the past decision the Board's uncertainty with those costs between yourself and Hydro One, is what evidence you were providing to address that uncertainty.  The only thing I really saw in here -- and again, correct me if I'm not seeing it -- was the evidence that you put forward from Charles River Associates that does a benchmarking study.

Is there something else I should be looking at that is trying to demonstrate the prudence now or the reasonableness now of that 736 that the Board was struggling with two years ago, other than the CRA stuff?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think maybe I would ask you to refine your question a little bit, so what NextBridge has put as part of its application and put on the record is extensive evidence about the 737 million dollar construction cost that's part of our application.

NextBridge has provided information in that application as well on how it prudently procured each one of those line items in those costs, I believe.  It's in Exhibit C, but we went through each one of the cost prudency measures that we use to come up with those numbers.

NextBridge also talks about its project -- project controls.  That's also part of the 737 as part of our application.

NextBridge also has over 100 quarterly reports, so each one of those quarterly reports NextBridge reports very granular detail about how it's been procuring and how it's been progressing through construction, each variance on those costs, very specifically, the NextBridge February 2022 -- sorry, pardon me, the NextBridge 2020 filing of February that went to the Board, talking about how we did a rebudgeting exercise and allocated contingency.  Those are also pieces that NextBridge can refer to when trying to address any sort of, I assume, perceived uncomfortability 

-- that is not a word -- so perceived discomfort from the Board.

MR. GARNER:  So what was the purpose of the CRA reference?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So as part of the filing guidelines there is a request for benchmarking, and so NextBridge completed a benchmarking study.  It's to supplement NextBridge's evidence on why its costs would be prudent -- or, sorry, why its costs are similar to those in the system and in fact quite comparable.

MR. RUSSO:  May I --


MR. GARNER:  I said I would ask you all the questions.  But I think this may be for Mr. Russo, but I'll let you decide.  I looked at the CRA --


MR. VEGH:  [Multiple speakers]  Mr. Russo was -- sorry.  I think Mr. Russo was about to supplement Ms. Tidmarsh's answer, so why don't you let him do that, and then you can ask your next --


MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  I didn't know.  Thank you.

MR. RUSSO:  Good afternoon.  So just one or two details to augment Ms. Tidmarsh's responses.  My understanding of the statutes that the benchmarking actually required and the language in the ROE statute describes the benchmarking as a test to ensure reasonableness, and I want to be clear that we're talking about reasonableness and not prudence.  My understanding is that prudence is and reasonableness are two different things, so there's an intent to -- the intent of the benchmarking is to compare the East-West Tie's costs of the projects, not necessarily to prove or disprove that they are necessarily prudent.  Just a point of clarification which I think is quite relevant here.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you for that, Mr. Russo, and I'm glad you're speaking, because I did have a question to you on this.  I looked at the CRA and the study that was done in the 2018 leave to construct, and I looked at the one that was filed in this case.  The numbers are slightly different in the comparisons that were done between the number of utilities and NextBridge.  And I wasn't quite sure why.

Can you tell me what fundamentally is the difference between what you're showing the Board in this one and what you showed the Board in the leave to construct?  Because you did a very similar exercise, didn't you?

MR. RUSSO:  It was indeed similar.  The principal differences were refining data, gathering better data on the East-West Tie where available, better data on individual projects where available, incorporating the OM&A, and looking at a slightly different spectrum of projects.  So --


MR. GARNER:  And I don't need to bring it up, although we could, and you probably know where it is, but I don't want to leave people in the dark, but the only thing I saw in the construction table, they were fairly similar except the one which was B2M, which had changed a fair amount in its relative stage.  The other ones were slightly different compared to NextBridge, which hadn't changed a lot.  But B2M had changed a lot in between and I couldn't figure out why.

Do you know, off the top of your head, why that would be, if I'm correct in what saying?

MR. RUSSO:  That's not exactly my recollection.  The numbers did change -- on the East-West Tie, the numbers did change for several of the projects.

I certainly expanded the -- inflated over a different number of years to calculate new numbers.  But if there is a particular difference in tables you're talking to, I might be able to provide you with a more specific answer.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I don't think anything particularly for myself turns on it, because I'm correct in saying this, am I not, is that fundamentally the two studies in the leave to construct and the one you presented here are not in a sense fundamentally showing anything different.  They are still showing NextBridge at the lower end of the construction per kilometre, I believe it is.  Is that correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's right.  The purpose of the benchmarking is to determine whether those costs are reasonable and, at least in my opinion, looking at the costs, they do seem reasonable when compared against a suite of comparable projects.

So the numbers are indeed slightly different, but the fundamental conclusion has not changed, and there appears to be a sufficient margin of safety to make that conclusion under most circumstances and sensitivities.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I want to now -- I think it's at tab 3, Ms. Tidmarsh. I want to go back to the table that was comparing costs of 736,970 and then your construction costs.  And I want to take to you page 26, which is the fixed asset continuity schedule, and I guess I would start by asking you this.  When you provided the construction costs in the leave to construct decision of 736.9, I'll call it, that along with the development costs whether you include the 5.33 or you don't and the 32 million dollars, 32 and change million dollars, would it be reasonable to say that, one, the Board or people you even thought that was going to be the in-service cost of the project?

I know it's called the construction cost, but people were assuming the in-service cost and the construction costs were the same thing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think I would like to clarify.  During the leave to construct, NextBridge's cost was 737. NextBridge always believed it could bring in its cost of construction at 737.  We talked a lot about all the certainties that the project had.

So the certainties that NextBridge had was it knew its routing, it knew its environmental assessment was on its way, it knew it had done quite a lot of design work, so it was an AACE class 2 estimate.

So NextBridge's best estimate of the cost was 737 million dollars at the time.  And then because of that, we still maintained 737 is our cost by the time we've gotten here because our estimates were so strong and because we had quite a lot of certainties when we put in our leave to construct number of 737.

MR. GARNER:  Not to quibble, it's 737.1.  I'm just wondering this sort of thing.  The Board looked at that number, call it 737, that number now is -- that number, to that you would have to have added the 31.24 in development costs, right?  And then we would, you and I discussing the 5.33 that the Board thought you were going to put in the price, my version of the things or your version of the things is to add that to the cost, and then that would give me the actual in-service cost.

But the in-service cost isn't that, it's a bit more than that.  And it's a bit more than that by, I think, 1.2 million dollars in the spares and another 230,000 dollars of additions in the in-service year.  And there may be a little bit difference, a little higher than that.  But that's correct, isn't it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That is correct.  But when it comes to talking about the construction costs, the comparison of the construction costs, what NextBridge put forward in the leave to construct and what NextBridge is putting forward in the rate case here, those are construction costs and those are 737 or 736.9 or 737.1.  So those are those two costs when it comes to construction.

So if we're comparing those two things, NextBridge has kept the same costs, the same line items that it did during its leave to construct.

MR. GARNER:  We can have an argument about that later.  But the one item that you did add was the spares, and one thing that struck me was Mr. Mayers yesterday talked about, well, you buy a lot of spares during construction because that's the time to buy them.

So when you were presenting this to the Board, that wasn't included because that was considered a later item and not part of the construction. And yet you were going to acquire them -- many of them, as you pointed out, much of it at the time of construction.  Is that not right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  During the leave to construct process, NextBridge did not come up with the spare strategies. NextBridge was not aware it was going to ask for the spares.

One of the reasons why NextBridge is asking for the spares is that during our procurements of the steel and the towers, we realized -- and the other elements, we realized we got very favourable pricing.  So you can see in some of our evidence as well we talked about how we actually managed to reduce some of our material costs.

And because of this and because of our reduction of those costs and very favourable pricing, we thought it prudent at this point in time to procure those spares with such a favourable pricing.  So that spare strategy was included in this rate case.

MR. GARNER:  That's odd, because I thought I heard Mr. Mayers say to the effect that one buys these things like towers, because one can't get a tower suddenly put on the spot, so one needs to have spares as part of basically the project.

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Garner, it's George Vegh here.  I don't know if you have a question for Mr. Mayers, or if you want it in the transcript.  But this has been a few times now you've given a characterization what you thought the Board felt, what you thought intervenors felt in a different case, and now you're giving your impression of what Mr. Mayers said.

If you want Mr. Mayers to provide -- I'm not finished yet, Mr. Garner.  He can do that.  I don't like you characterizing someone's evidence or feelings and asking Ms. Tidmarsh to comment on.

MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry you don't like the way I pose my questions.  Maybe, Mr. Mayers, I can ask you directly.  Is it true or not true that you, as part of the project, you said that you need spares on-site like towers because they are not accessible on demand, so to speak?  Did you not say that yesterday?  Did I hear that wrong?

MR. MAYERS:  It's prudent to purchase the spare equipment to have on-site during construction for a number of reasons.  One,  it's to ensure you can complete the construction and have all of your required equipment.  You can have damage.  You can have equipment damaged during construction.  You can have it damaged while it's being hauled to the site from rail or shipping, or from the trucks that deliver it, or from the forklift operators.

So it's absolutely prudent to have additional equipment ordered to ensure it's on-site, so the contractor can continue to work and complete the project.

It's also prudent because the cost of that, it becomes spare equipment at the end of the project is purchased at the same time as the bulk of the order itself.  So we talked about seventeen towers.  We have a total of 1228 towers on the project.  You buy in bulk like that, you get the best pricing.  The same goes for the conductors,  the OPGW, the insulators.  You get the best price at that time because you bought the product in bulk. 


So therefore I find these costs reasonable and prudent, but I also find that it's necessary to have them on-site should you have any damage that the contractor would -- you would delay the contractor for.  And delaying a contractor who has 800 people on-site at any point in time can run out of control as far as project costs go, if he has to sit and can't -- he doesn't have a polling crew because he doesn't have enough conductors, or doesn't have the appropriate insulators.

So I believe it absolutely makes sense to have the product on hand during the construction period.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I'm sorry, I don't have -- Mr. Chair, I don't have the schedule in front of me.  I wasn't sure if we were taking a break at 12:30.  I see it's 12:30 and I could break at this time, if that's satisfactory.  I'm in your hands.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, that would be a good time.  It is scheduled for 12:30, so if that is a good point for your cross, we can take a break now.  We will take the lunch break and we will resume at 1:30.  
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:34 p.m. 
--- On resuming at 1:35 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Welcome back, everyone.  I would hand it back to you, Mr. Garner, to continue your cross-examination.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I would like to move on to a different topic now, which is, I want to talk about the CCVA account that you're proposing.  And it's in my compendium, I think, at page 58, but you don't really need to bring it up.  It's really talking about the materiality threshold, and I believe that you've proposed using the .5 of your revenue requirement, which works out to a number of 278,500.  I'll just use 278K as the number.

Ms. Tidmarsh, I wonder if you can help me understand how you see that working.  So let me try and give you the example I'm trying to figure out in my head.  First of all, you have three different areas we've talked about:  construction cost overruns, for lack of a better word, post in-service environmental capital costs, and then COVID costs.

First of all, does the CCVA material threshold apply to all of them in aggregate, or are they each separate ideas as to how the threshold is applied?  You're on mute, Ms. Tidmarsh.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm going to pass this line of questioning over to Ms. Walding.

MR. GARNER:  She apparently refuses to accept your request.

MS. WALDING:  I'm sorry.  I was on mute.  Mr. Garner, there were a couple questions there.  Can you repeat just the first one for me?

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  So the first thing I'm trying to understand is, you have a materiality threshold for your CCVA, and I understand it's 278K based on the materiality threshold of .5 percent.  But then I was trying to understand is, do I apply that materiality threshold to each one of the aspects that we discussed as what's going into the CCVA, the construction cost overruns, the post in-service environmental capital cost, and the COVID-related cost?  Are they all under one ambit of that materiality threshold or do each one of those, I'll call them sub-accounts, attract the same materiality threshold of 278?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, we had planned on the one threshold of 278 applying to the CCVA in total for all three of those events.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And does the threshold apply in a cumulative manner or in a single year?  And so let's take the environment -- to give you an example, the environmental capital costs which are going to occur over years.  Does one say in each year, in each fiscal year, well, we met the threshold, this item was 278-plus, and it goes in the account, or is it cumulative in the sense that one year it's 50, the next year it's 250, neither meeting the threshold, but over two years they are 300, therefore they are in the account?  Can you help me with that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, it's cumulative, and the materiality applies to the account in total, you know, and so it would be -- you know, the response that -- here that we're talking about is for the establishment of the account you have to have a materiality threshold, and so, yes, we would cumulate it and it would be applied to the total of the construction cost variance account.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I don't want to be unfair to you, because this isn't your proposal, but because I don't want to raise something in argument you haven't thought about, if the Board were inclined to create sub-accounts in order to capture those three aspects separately and apply a materiality threshold to each one of them separately, would it be your view that you should apply the same 278 to each one of those accounts separately?  Would that be the way you would see it best done?

MS. WALDING:  Ms. Tidmarsh, or would you like me to respond?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, Ms. Walding.

MS. WALDING:  Okay.  No, we would not see it being applied that way.  That is not what is contained in our application, and what's contained in our application is the establishment of the construction cost variance account for the 278K materiality.

MR. GARNER:  Well, I know that, and I'm not trying to make you accept a different proposal.  I'm just simply saying if the Board were to let's say take out the COVID items and sub-account them completely different, because they have a different attribution, would you want the same materiality threshold or would you want something different applied to that?

MS. WALDING:  I really can't speak to that.  I mean, that's speculative of what the Board might or might not do, so I really can't speak to that.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's fine.  Now, I heard -- well, we've heard that, Ms. Tidmarsh -- and you can again correct me.  I think I've heard this -- which is that you have said that NextBridge is on track to bring in the project at 736,9 -- 737.1 is an easier number to use -- barring unforeseen circumstances and parking for a minute COVID, any COVID issues.  Is that a fair characterization?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, the NextBridge as part of its rate application has brought in the cost of 737 million, and that's what we're proposing here, and we still -- we're looking for a construction cost variance account in case there is anything unforeseen that adds to those costs.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  But you're not anticipating anything right now other than the COVID and the environmental.  Those are two you're anticipating, you know they're going to occur, you just don't know how much.  For the construction cost per se you're not anticipating right now anything?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So NextBridge, as I mentioned before, NextBridge is managing its budget, and it's the ups and downs for the next year until we reach COD, and so we're not anticipating that we will go over the 737.  We won't know until we reach COD, and then we do a true-up, and then from there we'll figure out if there are was any overages.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Ms. Tidmarsh.  And this is just me, because I know you've said it, but every time you say COD I want to say collect on delivery.  Can you use the non-acronym for a minute?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry.  ISD, in-service date.  I can change --


MR. GARNER:  That's fine.  No, I'm just -- you know, it's just a moment of my old age here --


MS. TIDMARSH:  No worries.

MR. GARNER:  No, that's okay.  And now I would like to bring us to page 27, which is, I believe, in tab 3, which is the last quarterly update of -- that you have on your -- your project.  And I want to ask you, Ms. Tidmarsh, about two different types of things in your budget right now, and you can tell me -- I want to characterize them a certain way, and you can tell me how I'm right or wrong just to characterize them that way.

If I look at the budget, I think of it myself as two types of costs, one cost that NextBridge is controlling directly, where they have full control over -- and I don't mean that in the sense that you can do everything right, but your environmental aspects, other things you're doing, and one in which you are subcontracted to Valard in which you are in a sense, I won't say blind to -- I'm sure you have -- you're getting information, but it's separate and apart from you, and you don't directly have that control over those.

Would that be -- if I looked at that budget would I be able to discern between those two different types of costs and budget in the --


MS. TIDMARSH:  So --


MR. GARNER:  -- (inaudible) budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  So I think there's your characterization of two different types of costs.  I would not agree that NextBridge is blind to the Valard costs, so in fact Valard -- NextBridge does cost-manage Valard.  Valard does invoice NextBridge on a milestone basis as part of this fixed cost, and NextBridge controls that -- those invoices and whether we pay them or not or whether we think that they've met the milestones that they should have as part of this fixed-price contract.  So we do manage that budget, and that's -- I would characterize that as one aspect of this budget, as the Valard DPC contract.

MR. GARNER:  Well, I guess where I was going, and you can tell me why this would or wouldn't work, where I was really going was, say the Board was inclined to again sub-account your CCVA and say, look, we want to look at two different things, we want to look at all your Valard stuff, which is where your construction is going, and then we want to look at the stuff that we know NextBridge is directly -- control is a bad word -- directly managing, as opposed to managing a contract with Valard.

What would be -- what would be wrong with that two sub-accounts for the Board to look at to give it a better idea of those two different -- if there were overruns or difference in costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I'm not sure the objective of bifurcating our budget.  I think that NextBridge -- it's NextBridge's budget, so no matter who is subcontract, it's NextBridge's to manage, and it's NextBridge's to manage the overall envelope to ensure it reaches the 737 budget that we forecasted.  So it's NextBridge's responsibility to do that, so in bifurcating the two between NextBridge and Valard, I don't think that shows the ultimate goal of NextBridge ensuring these costs are prudently spent.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Let me say it back because this is where I was going and I think you're addressing it quite well.  What I was trying to think in my mind was should the Board hold NextBridge to, say, a different standard, a higher standard maybe for those items in which it's directly managing and controlling vis-a-vis those items which Valard is doing under subcontract.

And in your mind, no, there is no distinction between those two from your mind as to the management by NextBridge of those two?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There is no distinction.  It's one budget that's managed by NextBridge.  NextBridge has purview into all of those costs.  NextBridge, as I mentioned before, will be negotiating with Valard -- I mentioned this a few times -- when it comes to commercial operation date to ensure costs are prudently spent.  So this is all part of NextBridge's purview.

MR. GARNER:  Can I ask you something about --


MR. RAFFENBERG:  Could I add a little there?  I manage the environmental budget, so I have consultants including Valard who work for me, and they're under my responsibility.   So we interact with them and direct their work.

And it's no different on the construction side.  We have a construction manager on the site and they have -- he has multiple folks on his team that are interacting with Valard every day.

So I agree with Ms. Tidmarsh that we can't really split it out, because it's all one project and one budget.

MR. GARNER:  It's sort of intermingled more than my vision of what it was.  Okay, thank you.

Can I ask you about the quarterly reports, Ms. Tidmarsh.  You had mentioned earlier at some point about change orders, and I've never managed a project like this at all, but I've managed a renovation.

So you were talking about change orders.  So you sit down and you agree that you're going to a different scope and that, and there is sometimes a cost implication to that exercise.  And so do you sit down with them regularly and discuss any change orders to the project?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if Valard comes to us with a change order -- which, to be clear, they have not, apart from one which we have discussed before in the change of the in-service date when we allocated contingency and that became our change order.

But at the end of the project, Valard will come to us with the change order of all the things they thought were outside of their scope.  So on a regular basis, we manage Valard's day-to-day activities to ensure there is no change order.

So for example, NextBridge's responsibility -- we talked in our IR's about a hybrid contract model.  So NextBridge has the responsibility for environmental permitting.  NextBridge has to ensure that Valard gets those environmental permits on time to be able to construct.

So NextBridge manages Valard and Valard's schedule and where they're going to go based on those environmental permits.  So we ensure there is no change order from Valard because we don't have an environmental permit for them to construct in.  So that would be an example of how we manage Valard.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  One thing I wanted to pick up on in your response.  You say there has only been one change order, can there be change orders between both, like you can put in one, they can put in one, you have a -- they have a change order for some other reason.

The first question is can both of you do that, and B, if they can or cannot, has there only been one of how many of those two types?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can pass this on to Mr. Mayers for further confirmation.  But the contract we have with them is Valard can submit change orders to us, so it's a one way street.  So Valard wouldn't -- we would not submit a change order to them.

However, built into their contract, for example, are certain things that would trigger a change order.  So one of those things we talked about was the change of the in-service date to the end of 2021.  So that triggered a change order and NextBridge allocated contingency to cover that change order.

And then there's also some caps in that contract about certain -- we call them skips.  For example, I think what you're talking about would all of these change orders -- if we couldn't have an environmental permit and they had to skip and mobilize and demobilize somewhere else, would that trigger a change order.  So in some cases, it would not.  We have a certain number of things we can move around as part of that contract that would not trigger a change order.  Mr. Mayers, did you want to expand on that?

MR. MAYERS:  I would like to say we have an exhibit within our contract with Valard that clearly states the requirements for a contract change order.  I believe we provided that in evidence in the past, and each and every change order, if there is one, gets routed to the project construction manager and then there's a negotiated period to review.

There are give and takes on every project.  There are things that we're remiss in providing that could lead to contractor costs, whether it be a permit delay or a material delay of some sort.  The flip side is Valard may have construction equipment that breaks down, or they may have not the right crew mix or something, so they get behind on something and there is a requirement for them to catch up.  That doesn't mean we're going to pay for that.

So there's give and takes throughout the entire construction process.  We have a clear construction change -- I'm sorry, a contract change order process within our Valard contract.

MR. GARNER:  It sounds to me as I've been listening this that you're very confident in where you're going.  And the question was put to you yesterday about why you would therefore not be taking the forecast risk of putting in your forecast capital budget.

And I think the example was given to you, and it's certainly my experience that typically when a utility applies for basically a cost of service and then a plan, its test year capital budget is always a forecast.  There is always some risk that it won't happen, but nonetheless the forecast is what is used to become the test year amount.

And in your case, that's not what you want.  You want an account to resolve any changes between the forecast amount and the actual amount.  Why is that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  One of the reasons that NextBridge has come in at this point in the construction, so there's still one year left of construction, is that NextBridge needs to secure rates for its Indigenous partners.

So we've come in early so that we can have rates on day one so that our Indigenous partners can secure their own financing.  So we're seeking the construction cost variance account for anything that would happen over the next -- at the end of our budget, where we would true it up if there was anything over the 737 million.

So we've chosen this type of structure to ensure that our Indigenous partners can get their rates before we go to ISD.

MS. WALDING:  I want to add to that.  Mr. Garner, you brought up that other utilities do this as well.  The difference is with other utilities, when they are proposing their forward-looking test year average rate base, there's generally puts and takes because they are a utility with multiple assets.  Things could go in-service sooner or later than planned, or not get done, or the cost could go up and down.

Since we are a single asset, it's unique in that there are no puts and takes or ups and downs with other projects within our entity; it is a single asset.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I heard that response yesterday and I'm a bit perplexed.  I certainly understand there is more diversity in the capital budget of, let's say, a Hydro One transmission, which as I recall had close to a billion dollar capital budget for its test year.  There's more diversity in that.

But of course, you're not at risk for all of the capital budget.  If the Board were to say to you we accept your 736 plus the development costs, et cetera, you're only at risk for any variance in that.  You're at risk for the whole budget, just for a small variance.  And if you're comfortable with where you're at, it's really a question of how large that variance would be, isn't it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I'm not sure what the --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yeah, I didn't --


MR. GARNER:  Well, what I'm saying is that --


MS. TIDMARSH:  -- follow the question.

MR. GARNER:  -- that the Hydro One, let's say with a billion-dollar capital budget, is -- at risk has more diversity, but it's got -- it's only dealing with a small variance that it's really going to -- it's not going to be half a billion dollars instead of a billion, much in the same way if the Board were to approve a -- the final in-service amount of the 737 plus -- .1 plus the development cost.  You're at risk only for the potential variance from that, not risk at the whole amount.  You're going to get that amount or whatever amount the Board has.  So I'm still trying to figure out what the difference is.  There doesn't seem to be a lot of difference in the quantum of risk to the quantum of capital budget, unless --


MS. WALDING:  So yes --


MR. GARNER:  Sorry, go ahead.

MS. WALDING:  Yesterday when I spoke about that, I want to be very clear.  When I was talking about that I was talking about OM&A cost, and I was talking about gives and takes in OM&A costs.  I was not talking about capital, and, you know, typically there is a process, and you do have to prove it's prudent about, if a project does go over budget.  I think you would agree with that, that that's typical for utilities to come back and to say, hey, this project that I told you was going to cost X has now cost me X plus a little bit, and I'm coming back to seek recovery of that, and so that's a standard utility practice, and I don't think it's, you know -- but it is the variance, to your point, it's a variance from our 737, but it's a very typical utility practice, no matter the size of their capital budget, but I did want to delineate talking about OM&A versus talking about capital.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Ms. Walding, and I'm sorry if I confused the two in your response.  And thank you for that answer, but the true-up that happens in a typical incentive case like yourself or what you're putting forward as an incentive case, it happens at the end of the incentive period, right, the utility for -- at least in the ones I'm familiar here in Toronto, the utility forecast, the test year that has a number of subsequent incentive years, and any difference in capital budget is only going to get trued up in the sense of a new cost-of-service rate at the end of the incentive rate period and the next rebasing.  That's the way it works, isn't it?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that's the case.  We did propose an earlier rebasing, because we were proposing the ten-year time period, and we did not think it would serve any of the intervenors or the Staff well to have a lot of separation and time between when the project was completed and when the prudency review occurred.  And so that is why we proposed an earlier, you know, disposition of that account, so that it would still be close to when the project was finished, because this is a very large project, and that there would be -- still be a lot of information there available for everybody to determine the prudency.

MR. GARNER:  Right, but under those circumstances the utility -- at least again a way I am not familiar with -- you don't true-up during your incentive period.  If you overspent -- let's say you overspent and you didn't have this account.  You wouldn't get the cost benefit of that.  You would have to wait until you finally trued up.  You would have to basically, as I say, eat that amount until your next cost of service.  That's how it would work, wouldn't it?

MS. WALDING:  That's not what we're proposing here, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  No.  I see that.  And isn't there another way to mitigate -- if the Board were not inclined to give you a CCVA account, the other way to mitigate that risk would be to shorten your term, wouldn't it?  Because then if you were off by something you would be back in front of the Board to resolve any finalized capital amounts, so the Board's -- the Board shortened the term, they could reduce your risk that way if --


MS. WALDING:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  -- there was no CCVA.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, if that occurred, it's still going to be five-plus years, okay, so let's say we chose a five-year term.  It's still seven years from now potentially before we would have that prudency and still quite a separation from the in-service date of the project.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Now, I have at tab 14 a -- extracts from a decision of the Board on Niagara Reinforcement LP.  I'll call it NRLP.  And I'm not asking you to really go into detail on this, but one of the things that I noticed in here, and you'll see it on page 2 of that decision, is that NRLP --


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, Mr. Garner, can I just interrupt for a second --


MR. GARNER:  Yes, you can.

MR. VEGH:  -- you had tab --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, who's speaking?  I'm sorry?

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, it's George Vegh.  You said you had a tab 14?

MR. GARNER:  I thought I did.

MR. VEGH:  Ours ends at tab 13.

MR. GARNER:  Oh, maybe.  Okay.  Because I -- I'm sorry, Mr. Vegh.  I am working from a working version, which may be different from the version I gave you.  So maybe I did not include it, and if I didn't I'll apologize, and maybe then I'll just rephrase my question this way.

Are you familiar with a decision of the Board that dealt with Niagara Reinforcement for a decision on interim rates?

MR. VEGH:  Oh, there it is.

MR. GARNER:  Oh, there it is.  I did -- I did actually put it in, Mr. Vegh, but you're right, it's not at -- did I say tab 14?  You're right.  It's at tab 13.  So I guess we're both right.  Anyways, do we have it now, that decision?  You'll see the top paragraph the Board talks about what I gather from this basically NRLP had come in earlier, and the Board had said it's premature to deal with this.  Come back when you're closer to completion.  And what struck me is that NRLP also had a First Nations partner with issues.

So have you reviewed this and looked at the Board's decision in this matter about whether you're premature vis-a-vis what the Board's decided for NRLP?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can start that answer, and Ms. Walding can continue, but in regards to the proposed First Nations partners, I'm not sure what the structure of the First Nations partnership is here, so I can't say if they are analogous or not, but in our case Bamkushwada is purchasing equity, so they're actually -- they need lenders and they need those rates beforehand for their -- to seek debt, and then also as part of the Aboriginal loan guarantee program.

So I can't comment on the financial relationship between NRLP and its First Nations partners, so I don't believe they're analogous, but I can pass to Ms. Walding to answer the rest of your question.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, we have reviewed it, and I do believe that NRLP did come in-service later than the date of this request, and so I do understand that the Board's decision was probably correct, and that they did not meet the in-service date, as I recall reading it.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  I'm sorry, Ms. Walding, so the distinction -- I just want to say it back to you -- I think you're saying to me is the distinction you saw in this was you're going -- you have an in-service date you're sure you're going to meet, and in that case what you were seeing was an in-service date that they thought they could meet, but that they didn't, and in fact some people thought they wouldn't meet.  Is that what you were saying to me?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that's what I'm saying.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Ms. Walding.  That's helpful.

Let me just catch where I am here.

When I jump to this -- it's at tab 11 again.  You don't need to draw it up.  It's a minor point.  But again, it falls on some of my questions about the CCVA, and this is to do with your Z factor, which I'm sure, Ms. Tidmarsh, you'll tell your American cousins that we won't give out a Z factor here.
But --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  -- really about the eligibility, and it kind of follows the same line of thinking about the CCVA.

First of all, somebody yesterday asked about what is the -- what is the eligibility -- materiality threshold, and I had the same question, and so is it the 278, the .5?  Is there a materiality threshold for the Z factor idea here too?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Ms. Weinstein can answer that question.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, our understanding is that the OEB guidelines for materiality thresholds, we fall into the category where the threshold for our size is half a percent of revenue requirement, so our understanding is that would apply for the Z factor as well.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And again, for this one is it the idea that it is based on a one-year, one-time event, or is it some sort of cumulative concept?  I mean, can you help me with that?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  So based on the OEB guidelines, which I believe are in the Chapter 2 filing requirements for the Z factor, there is a three-prong approach:  cause, prudency, and materiality.  So I think we would have to look at all three of those together to ensure we met the requirements for a Z factor treatment, so I would point us to those filing requirements to further understand that as well and follow that guidance.

MR. GARNER:  So can I ask the question this way, because I'm somewhat confused even when I see these outside of your case, which is, does NextBridge actually need the Board to establish a Z factor account, or does it need simply in its decision that it's so inclined to say to NextBridge, you're eligible for a Z factor.  When you need one, write us a letter and tell us the problem and you're eligible to come in and have that considered to be made for a Z factor.  Or do you need, to put it another way, an account established which you will book things into and eventually come to the Board and say I've got a Z factor and here's the amount?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I believe our understanding is we are asking the option or the ability to establish a Z factor, if and when we meet the criteria and have an event that would warrant one.  I believe that's a similar approach in the first application as well.

MR. GARNER:  All you're seeking from the Board is some indication that yes, you're eligible should something happen, but you're going to have to ask us in the event when you need it.  Is that a good way to say it?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  That is my understanding.  We would have to present to the Board we met the cause, materiality and prudence for Z factor account and treatment at that time.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  This has been covered and so I'm just going to -- I'm not going to bring up the substance.   This was covered, I believe, by Ms. Girvan, but I want to ask a couple questions.  It's about the previous two very similar -- in my mind, a very similar utilities single asset transmitters which are NRLP and B2M, which both in the last year had decisions of the Board and both of those have what's called capital adjustment factors which address, at least in my mind in some fashion, but maybe not in a satisfactory fashion, the idea there is a declining rate base for these very special entities and therefore there needs to be an adjustment.

This morning I heard -- I believe, Ms. Walding, you said those were settlements and they were with -- they were commercial.  I was a little perplexed by commercial, because I think my client was the only intervenor in the B2M and you considered my client a commercial client, is that what you were saying?

MS. WALDING:  No, I'm saying it's a commercial settlement that occurs, not that you're a commercial entity.  But that there's gives and takes in a commercial settlement that we don't know all the gives and takes that occurred in that settlement. So we you're just speaking to one factor of that settlement, and we don't have the full view of all the factors of that settlement.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And you are aware that the second settlement with NRLP was simply between Board Staff and NRLP, are you not?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I am aware of that.

MR. GARNER:  You are aware that when the Board accepts those, it does make a finding on it to be reasonable and in the public interest.  So it's not the Board accepting something it doesn't think it's reasonable.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, it doesn't think it's reasonable,  but it doesn't also establish prudence that that is the right decision for any other transmitter that has the same application, or a similar application.

MR. GARNER:  Right, thank you.  The next item I think I would like to discuss is the cost of capital.   Yesterday, Mr. Rubenstein took you through your analysis on the benefits of your proposal in some detail, and I actually had them also in my compendium at tab 8.  So we don't need to go to them and I wasn't -- and maybe he was, when I looked at it, perplexed as to what it was trying to show.

One of the things, Ms. Walding, I definitely got out of your testimony yesterday was something that hadn't occurred to me, and I'm not sure I understand the answer.

I assumed that given at the end of ten years you were going to have -- and I don't know what the figure is, but I'm going to use the number 690 million dollars worth of outstanding capital that needed to be funded through debt, that you were going to project -- get long-term debt to match that amount, and shorter term debt to get the amounts you thought were coming off of that, even though it would be returned back to the investor because of depreciation.

And I understood your answer to be no, that's not the case.  You're not doing ten years; you're going to do a lot more tranching of your debt to finance the project.  Is that -- do I have that right?

MS. WALDING:  There's a lot of different pieces and parts to that.  What you just asked me in your question --


MR. GARNER:  Here is my real question, let me get right to it.  U.S. Treasury yields are at a historical low right now, everything is very low.

I guess I was wondering why wouldn't you be locking in the most amount of long-term debt for the next ten or longer years that you possibly could in the next year and a half?  Why isn't that a strategy where you were saying that's not the strategy?

MS. WALDING:  You have to look at the declining rate base, and you have to look at how much debt you anticipate to have.  So as we talked about, in the ten year time period we have the expiration of debt.

So you don't want as a utility to get debt for long periods of time that is not going to be included as part of your debt requirements that you have of 60 percent debt.

As an example, if I went out and got 770 million dollars of 20-year debt, then by the time I got to the end of the 20 years, I would have an amount of debt that was in excess of what is needed for my regulatory rates, and likely would not be recoverable because it is not part of my 60 percent of debt.

So that introduces risk to the utility that is not prudent and not good utility practice.  So what's a very common utility practice is for you to get the amount of debt that matches your regulatory requirement of debt.  That's very, very common in the industry.

MR. GARNER:  Ms. Walding, I got that part of your answer.  I guess to use your example, I definitely understand and I understood through your conversation with Mr. Rubenstein why you wouldn't get 30 year debt for 700 million dollars when you're going to have to refinance a sub-component of that because of depreciation.

But I guess what I'm asking is:  If you know you're not going to refinance 500 million dollars for ten years, why wouldn't you get 500 million dollars at ten years and then, for the other portions of it that you know are not going to be refinanced, et cetera, why wouldn't you then take that portion and do that in shorter period debt? That's the part I don't understand.

MS. WALDING:  What we did is work with our treasury department here at NextEra.  They are the ones that help us come up with the strategy of what amount of debt we're going to procure for the project.

Just to give you an idea, this treasury department has probably procured about 59 billion dollars of project financing for all the capital projects at NextEra.  So they're very, very adept at the work they do.

So an example would be you can go out and get a 20-year for a certain rate, or you can get a ten-year for a certain rate.

So what we do is we evaluate what the cost is of all of those various options that were presented by the various banks of the various tenures, and try to match it to the requirements we think that we will have during this time period.  And we try to also get the best price that we can get.

So I can't say right now that getting 500 million of 20-year debt is the right decision, unless I look at that debt in comparison to the ten-year term and what the differences in the rates might be for those.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And because you were, as I understand the proposal, you're putting forward a capital structure and cost that gets reviewed for the debt portions of it.  And the debt portions and long-term and short-term you've used is actually the last -- the 2020 Board numbers as opposed to the 2021 ones, which are lower.

And what I don't understand about that is I would have thought the more recent numbers are more indicative of a market than ones that are now over a year older, and given under your proposal there is no real difference.  It's really not about refunds or a credit to you which you're held whole.

Is it important that the Board meet for the purpose of that right now, these numbers that you've used from 2020 as opposed to the more recent ones the Board has?  I'm not talking about equity; I'm talking about long-term and short-term debt.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, Mr. Garner.  The reason is very simple.  It is based on the timing of when we filed our application.  When we filed our application, the 2021 parameters were not available, so our application is based off the 2020 for the debt.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I'm a little bit confused about the short-term debts.  Most of the time in my experience -- it may not be yours, Ms. Walding, but my experience is that most utilities simply -- even once they procure long-term debt, they use the Board's short-term debt number because short-term debt by definition is often very fluid and it can be anything from bank drafting to anything in between. 

But your proposal, as I understand it, is to embed an actual short-term debt cost, but by definition short-term debt has got to be a forecast, because it's short-term, it's not a long-term instrument, it's a short-term instrument.  Can you explain to me how that's done in your proposal, then?

MS. WALDING:  Sure, yes, and this is also very common throughout utilities, and almost all utilities that I've dealt with have this, and I have 24 years of experience with various utilities.  And so what they do is they have a revolver that they can draw on as they have capital needs, and so the revolver becomes their use of the short-term debt, and so that's what we would propose here.  You know, we haven't decided.  It may be simpler for to use the OEB's short-term rate, because it does typically end up being about the same as what you would get from a revolver account, but we just haven't finalized our overall strategy for the overall debt.  And so once we put all of these pieces together from the long-term and the short-term debt we'll be able to decide if a revolver is the best thing or not for the utility to have access to cash.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now I want to talk about the equity portion that you chose.  Again, you chose to use the Board's previous 2020 number, as opposed to the more recent one, and I believe when Ms. Girvan asked you about that this morning you said to the effect is, well, we chose them.  They were at this historical low.

But of course the current numbers, the historical low, it's the lowest one, right?  The last one is higher than the current one.  I'm still perplexed why is the Board's most current estimate for a cost-of-equity return not the most reasonable number.


MS. WALDING:  They are both extremely low, and I think that they're both amongst the lowest that we'll ever see in the ten-year time period that we're proposing here, and so they're both extremely low.

MR. GARNER:  Well, yes, and my client would like to see the lower of those two low ones, and you picked the higher one.  I'm just trying to figure out, on what basis do you make your argument for the higher of the dated one, and my argument for the lower of the more recent one.

MS. TIDMARSH:  If I could add, I would say again when we filed our application in November 2020 we did not have the 2021 parameters, and one of the reasons why we needed to know what that ROI was, again, we mentioned before, is our Indigenous partners, and so we needed to lock in a rate that our Indigenous partners could seek their financing and access to the OFA -- sorry, the Ontario Financing Authority's Aboriginal loan guarantee program.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, and have you -- have you provided any evidence that they couldn't do that in the absence of doing -- picking this number?  Picking the higher one from 2020?  I haven't seen any.  Did you put something in the evidence on that?  A letter from them, a letter from their bankers, a model, that say if we only get this number that's the only way we can get financing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We haven't provided anything in evidence what you're looking for, but I think I'm just trying to say that we were looking for some certainty, and so we provided the certainty in November of 2020, and since that time they have been having conversations with banks, looking for financing.  They're looking for a locked-in rate at that point, so I just want to reiterate that point.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  There has been a lot of talk in the last day or day and a half about the risks to NextBridge with the project and cost, risks, et cetera, but I wanted to ask a couple of questions about that.  One is, would you agree with the statement that a utility with brand-new assets has got less risk of -- business risk than a utility with older aged assets?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can start that question.  Mr. Mayers can answer it from his experience.  But I think the assets -- we put this in our transmission system plan, so that the assets are -- the assets are a low risk for failure, as opposed to older assets.  However, there are still a lot of risks that NextBridge needs to manage, and we talked a lot about the weather around Lake Superior and all of the risks that we've been talking about in our OM&A budget as well.

Mr. Mayers, did you want to ask -- add anything about asset management?

MR. MAYERS:  No, I think you've covered it.  I mean, you're absolutely right that we have a brand-new line, but a brand-new line is still required to be inspected, it's required to be reported on, and it's required to be made available at all times for the reliable needs of the IESO.

So, you know, as part of that we intend to continue to inspect and ensure that we don't have any issues that may come up, but just because a product is new doesn't mean you won't have issues at some point in time.

I will say that, you know, in general you may think you can walk away from it, but to use an analogy, even a new car needs to have the oil changed and the wipers changed and the tire pressure checked, and all of those items that are necessary to ensure that it's a good, reliable car, so I look at that as the same as with a brand-new asset.

MR. GARNER:  And could I ask, would you agree with me that these, I'll call them one-type asset transmitters, NRLP, B2M, yourself, they are unique in the sense that they're single lines between basically two stations or stations and that they're quite unique and nobody's really studied at least in Ontario the risks of just that type of utility that I'm aware of.  Would you agree?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can start this, but I'm not sure I agree with your characterization of a single asset line and comparing that to NextBridge and comparing two Hydro One lines as well.  I don't believe they're -- I think this is an oxymoron -- analogous in their uniqueness, and so I think that NextBridge is much different, in it's a single asset, because again, it's not part of the utility here in Ontario and doesn't have part of the network pool, and so NextBridge is one asset, whereas Niagara Reinforcement and B2M are part of Hydro One's network pool.

Ms. Walding, do you want to add to that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, and so, you know, there's a lot more that they have to lean on in terms of, you know, the ability to have the overall network of Hydro One to support some of their activities, whereas we have to go out and have to procure those activities ourselves as an independent transmitter.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'll leave to my friends at Hydro One to make any distinctions between affiliates and in the network pool, because I -- that was where I was going next, and maybe they will want to follow this up, but when we talk about your risks, as I understand it, you go -- your proposal and the way this works is your revenue requirement goes into the UTR, into the network pool, and you draw your revenue requirement out of that pool, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And the way I understand it -- again, you can correct me -- is the forecast risk of that pool is shared among all the transmitters, so to the extent that there is a higher or lower amount of transmission distribution or transmission movement, et cetera, that risk gets shared among all the parties to the pool that they're in, so the network pool, so yourself and Hydro One and B2M, whoever is in that pool, right?  And so forecast risk is shared among the pool holders?  Is that the way it works --


MS. WALDING:  I don't follow your question.  I don't follow what you're asking about in terms of forecast risk, because what we're applying for is a revenue requirement, so I don't understand how that applies to forecast risk.

MR. GARNER:  Well, then maybe I don't understand it, so -- Ms. Walding, so maybe you'll help me.  So when you put in your revenue requirement, you're paid a revenue requirement by the IESO out of the pool amount, right?

MS. WALDING:  That's right.

MR. GARNER:  Now, if more revenue is collected because the UTR was set on a different amount of a forecast, there is more revenue collected, do you gain or lose any revenue?

MS. WALDING:  I'm not familiar with that --


MR. GARNER:  Can I ask, is that a question then that if you -- your system is unavailable through, let's say now, the example being through some -- I don't like to use fault, but let me use a good symbol -- through a fault of your own, so one of your circuits is down, does that affect the amount of revenue you get out of the pool?

MS. WALDING:  I'm not familiar with that, no.

MR. GARNER:  You don't know?

MS. WALDING:  No.

MR. GARNER:  Do you know, if the IESO calls you to interrupt or to do something, do you know if that affects your revenue pool?

MS. WALDING:  I do know IESO can call on us for us to be disconnected because we don't have the ability to disconnect.  That's controlled by Hydro One, so they would not be calling us to disconnect anyway.

MR. GARNER:  I guess in that case what would happen is one of the stations you're connected to would be called to interrupt in some fashion.  But my real point was the amount of actual time you're in-service, and talked about that this morning, you don't know if that affects the revenue that you derive out of the pool?

MS. WALDING:  What we put forward in our application is the revenue requirement we're requesting, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  All I'm trying to get at is an understanding of how this is -- you talk about risks in the sense of talking about risks of the system somehow not operating, or let's say a tower come down.  I was trying to understand how that actually impacts the amount of revenue you get.

MS. WALDING:  We weren't discussing that in terms of the amount of revenue we get.  What we were discussing was in terms of the cost that we were going to have to bear under the custom IR application that we have proposed here.  So that's where we were talking about.

MR. GARNER:  I'm talking about something else, so I'm trying to understand.  Do you have a revenue requirement or risk if you fail to perform.  For instance, you have an interruption, let's say a problem on your line of some type, does that actually impact your revenue requirement.  That is what I'm trying to get at.

MS. WALDING:  We haven't evaluated that risk, no, we haven't.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think I may be getting close to the end and exceeding my time with any luck.

I have a question and I thought it was at tab 13, but Mr. Vegh pointed out my numbering is faulty and I'm trying to find it.  It was a question about -- they're called TSAIDI and TSAIFI.  Mr. Mayers, you might recall this discussion about these are metrics, and this was a discussion about the fact that the companies like yourself don't have delivery points, so there is a conceptual problem with the concept of using SAIDI and SAIFI.

But as I understood, the two other single asset transmitters were looking into deriving TSAIFI and TSAIDI for the purpose of comparisons.  Maybe I should stop there.

Mr. Mayers, do you know what I'm talking about so I can have a conversation with you about that?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm familiar with the RFI and the key is transmission, so it's SAIDI and SAIFI.  SAIDI is system average interruption duration index, and SAIFI is system average interruption frequency index.

So one is how long and the other is how often.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And I do have a reference and if we put it up, it's Staff 62.

The only reason I'm bringing this up at all is in both of those transmitters, there was discussion to create these TSAIFI and TSAIDI.  And as I understood it from the responses you provided, you have no objection to working with them to work on a common set of standard metrics.  It's just you haven't done that and you haven't had any conversation with them.  Is that an accurate characterization of that?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, that's correct, and that would be something we would negotiate with them if the Board required through our CSA connection facilities agreement with Hydro One.

MR. GARNER:  The only again I raise it is because of the idea of having consistency among transmitters.  Okay, thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Garner, we had scheduled a break at this point.  But my understanding is you're about to finish.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I think I am finished, so could we take the break and then rather than waste time, I will go through the end of my notes here.

When we come back, I think I'll be finished and whoever comes after me should be prepared to go.  But if I do have a couple of follow-ups, with your indulgence I would do that.

DR. ELSAYED:  Sounds good.  It's 2:30 now so we will take a break and resume at 2:40.
--- Recess taken at 2:30 p.m. 

--- On resuming at 2:45 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Welcome back, everyone.  Mr. Garner, did you have any further questions?

MR. GARNER:  I do have one, I think, final question, and with your indulgence I'll finish off.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, please go ahead.

MR. GARNER:  Ms. Tidmarsh, it's really a bit of house-cleaning for me, and if it's in the evidence you can just point it to me.  If you go to -- you can go to tab 10, but you probably know this table anyways.  It's a table of your OM&A that gets to the 4.94.

I'm wondering -- and I think you'd have to do it by undertaking -- is it possible for you to take the original, I think it's 3926147, you know, the original OM&A that was in the first proceeding, and using that table, just add a column that would show me where the difference is -- where the difference in costs all arise for each one of those categories?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we could do that.  Actually, Mr. Garner, one of the -- in one of your tabs is the comparison that went with NextBridge and the Lake Superior link, and at the bottom of that there is also the OM&A costs as well --


MR. GARNER:  Right.

MS. TIDMARSH:  -- so I just want to go to that and just -- I can't remember in your compendium which tab that was, but you can see -- we will be able to map -- just, I want to get some clarity.

MR. GARNER:  Is it the one at page 21 of the compendium?  Is that the -- are we talking about that document -- the bottom?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's right, so -- yes, scroll to the bottom.

MR. GARNER:  Yeah.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So there we go, so, yeah, so now you can see -- so that's from our original -- we've got the same light on it.  It's got maintenance, operations, regulatory, compliance, including administration, and so we've sliced and diced that differently in the --


MR. GARNER:  Right.

MS. TIDMARSH:  -- operations and maintenance budget that we showed you.  I think you're asking me to try and now kind of reconcile and map to those two?

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Slice it that way at that time and show the numbers, because -- and let me just tell you one of the things I'm trying to find out, and it may help you as you're doing it.  As I understood, a lot of the increases were to do with the Indigenous and First Nations types of costs that were increased, and I was just trying to map those two pictures back together.  Do you know what I mean?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sure, definitely, and I think one of our -- one of our IRs talked about the increases to Indigenous, and we talked a little bit about, that our original budget for Indigenous costs increased by a few factors, and I can talk to those, and we can -- I'll talk to Ms. Weinstein in a second and make sure we can get you an apples -- try to get you an apples to apples of mapping.

But -- so the Indigenous costs, those costs increased for a few factors, one of which was the increase to reserve land, so I mentioned yesterday that Pays Plat First Nation had 1.5 kilometres, it now has 6.5, so that number increased.

Also, there were some increases in there from caribou mitigation as part of our permit for the overall benefits permit, and then also some increases from our environmental assessment and being asked to do an extra Indigenous monitoring.

So those are the reasons for the increases to the Indigenous budget.  But Ms. Weinstein, is it possible for us to make best efforts to map this OM&A budget to our current OM&A budget?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  So to be clear, you would like us to take this 3.926 million and put it in the categories that we have in our application today, which are O&M regulatory, compliance and admin, Indigenous participation, compliance, and then property taxes and rates payments, those six line items, you would like us to put this 3.9 into those six?

MR. GARNER:  That's right.  And side by side so you could just see the difference...

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I believe we can do that to the best of our ability with some estimates and assumptions.

MR. GARNER:  Sure, I understand.  That's all I'm asking.

MR. MURRAY:  This is --


MR. GARNER:  If no objection, then can we have an undertaking number for that?

MR. MURRAY:  It's Lawren Murray for OEB Staff.  That will be Undertaking J2.1. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO TAKE THE 3.926 MILLION AND PUT IT IN THE CATEGORIES IN THE APPLICATION TODAY, WHICH ARE O&M REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE AND ADMIN, INDIGENOUS PARTICIPATION, COMPLIANCE, AND THEN PROPERTY TAXES AND RATES PAYMENTS, THOSE SIX LINE ITEMS, TO PUT THIS 3.9 INTO THOSE SIX.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And so that ends my questioning.  I just want to thank the NextBridge panel.  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

UNIDENTIFIED FEMALE SPEAKER:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  We now go to Hydro One.  Mr. Engelberg.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Engelberg:

MR. ENGELBERG:  It appears that my video turned off.  I'm just turning it back on.  Can you see me now?

DR. ELSAYED:  No.  Yes, now we can see you.  Before you start, take a second.  We need to schedule a break sometime during your cross-examination, so maybe you can let us know when would be a good time do that.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  I'll do that, Mr. Chair.  What time are you thinking of?  Maybe in a half an hour from now?

DR. ELSAYED:  Exactly.  That would be about half an hour.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.  Thank you.  I would like to begin by asking for the Hydro One compendium to be given an exhibit number.

MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray for OEB Staff.  That will be Exhibit K2.5.  
EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  HYDRO ONE COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much.  Panel, I would like you to turn to your benchmarking study, which is included in the Hydro One compendium as tab 1.  It is in your materials attachment 1 of Exhibit B, tab 1, Schedule 7.  And Mr. Russo, if you could let me know when you turn it up.

MR. RUSSO:  I have it in front of me, and I see it on the screen.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I believe that in direct examination yesterday you indicated that based on the benchmark study of costs it can be concluded that the costs for both OM&A and capital are reasonable.  Is that a fair statement?

MR. RUSSO:  I don't remember the testimony, but, yes, my conclusion is the costs are reasonable.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  Well, at page 17 of 20 in the benchmarking study, Figure 11 shows the benchmarking base results, and essentially it summarizes your findings on the all-in capital cost of the East-West Tie.  Would you agree with that?

MR. RUSSO:  I'm sorry, you're asking whether Figure 11 accurately represents what's in my report?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Whether it summarizes your findings on the all-in capital costs of the line.  I'm sorry, was that yes?

MR. RUSSO:  That was yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.  Based on these figures you draw the conclusion that the current estimated costs for the new line at 1.65 million per kilometre are reasonable and cost-effective when compared to other similar transmission projects.  Is that a fair representation of your report's all-in capital conclusion?

MR. RUSSO:  My overall conclusion of the report is that the costs were reasonable.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.  So it's a fair representation of your conclusion.

MR. RUSSO:  I describe the costs as reasonable in my report.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  And similarly, at Figure 10 of your report you provide the results of your OM&A benchmarking study, which is relied on by NextBridge to support NextBridge's evidence.  NextBridge's contention is similarly that OM&A spending on a per asset basis is low in comparison to other transmitters in Ontario and therefore it is reasonable.  Do you agree with that?

MR. RUSSO:  NextBridge's conclusions are their own.  I believe the costs shown in Figure 10 in my report on page 14 indicate that they are reasonable compared to Niagara, Bruce-Milton, and given that in that particular table neither the costs in Niagara or in Bruce-Milton have been inflated.  That is a conservative estimate, or conservative conclusion, rather.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I understand there have been some reroutes on the project and it's been a long time since the -- NextBridge's leave-to-construct application was filed.  Bearing that in mind, can the panel confirm whether the proportional ownership split of the NextBridge right of way remains the same as it did when NextBridge filed its leave-to-construct application?  And I'm referring to the proportional split at tab 2 of the Hydro One compendium.  It came from page 3 of Exhibit E, tab 1 in the NextBridge materials.

MS. SCHWAEBE:  This is Ms. Schwaebe speaking.  For the description of land rights, if you go to the second page --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I'm so sorry, I just, I didn't hear the beginning of what you said, sorry.

MS. SCHWAEBE:  It's Kara Schwaebe speaking for NextBridge, the land matters.  So the proportion of land rights has remained the same in breakdowns.  Twenty percent is private, fee simple for the transmission line easement, and eighty percent being for Crown.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.  So there is no material update to the chart at tab 2; is that fair to say?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  That's correct.  For the transmission easements, there was increases and decreases for temporary taken for access roads, lay downs and work camps.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Can you confirm that the dollars forecast to be spent on real estate acquisition costs during the construction period only are found in your construction cost forecast at Exhibit C, tab 2, Schedule 4, which shows your costs at approximately 24 million land rights, excluding Aboriginal, and approximately 2 million spent on federal section 28.2 permits.  That was a response to Hydro One interrogatory 12, part A.

I think you can see at tab 3 of our compendium.

MS. SCHWAEBE:  I can see it.  So the land rights costs excluding Aboriginal is 23.8 million.  That was filed into our LTC application and remains unchanged.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And does the approximately 2 million spent on section 28.2 permits remain unchanged?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  section 28.2?  Ms. Tidmarsh might be better qualified to speak to the federal permits, but I believe that is correct.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  Can you confirm there is an additional 1.5 million approximately in real estate acquisition costs being sought for recovery as part of your phase shift costs, which is provided at tab 5 of the Hydro One compendium?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Yes, we included 1.44 million land optioning costs during the designation stage to secure land right option agreements as we defined the route that was critical to the LTC application and environmental assessment.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.  So the total of all the real estate elements you just mentioned is about 27 million, being 24 million for land acquisition non-Indigenous, about two million for section 28.2 permits, and about one-and-a-half million in phase shift costs.  Is 27 million an approximate amount total?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The two million dollars in 28.2 permit amounts, I believe, Mr. Engelberg, you brought up HONI 12.  I would like to take a look at that page in your compendium.  Which page is that?  I would like to confirm that before Ms. Schwaebe confirms the 27 million.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I didn't refer -- I'm sorry, was somebody trying to help?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Sixty-six.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm just reading this.  OM&A, this is part of our construction costs and you're asking as part of our construction costs, the 2.114 is for section 28.2 permits and I can confirm.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, thank you.  So the question was does that total over 27 million, being 24 million for land acquisition non Indigenous, 2 million for the section 28.2 permits, and about a million and a half in phase shift costs?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Yes, those are approximate costs.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Right now I'm going to address the .60 million in your F-4-2 that's included in your OM&A budget for land rights payments that are not being capitalized.

But can you clarify whether there are any other real estate acquisition costs that you're seeking to be capitalized for recovery that we haven't talk about yet?

For example, are there any additional real estate costs in already-approved development costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Before Ms. Schwaebe goes on, what I would like to understand is the 27 million you've included Indigenous costs as part of that land cost.  So NextBridge does not characterize its federal section 28.2 permits in any of its land budgets.  That to NextBridge is an Indigenous cost, so we characterize that differently.

So the land costs that are part of this application, this rate case application, are the costs in our leave to construct budget, which is the same as our rate case budget, and the phase shift costs.  The development costs have already been approved by the Board, so I want to make that clear.  Ms. Schwaebe, please continue.

MS. SCHWAEBE:  The land budget and the real estate purchase is completed.  There are no new ones to be taken outside of the current budget.  We have, as per the construction report filed, spent the majority of the budget, the 25 percent left of that 23.8, and the net remaining cost being associated with securing three more transmission easements that are just being refined, damage payments to landowners and Crown interest holders, and then the closing out of the project land perspective on title.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  If you can look at the last page of Exhibit C, tab 4, Schedule 1, of your evidence you have there a fixed asset continuity schedule.  It's also at tab 6 of Hydro One's compendium.  Have you located that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Farther down.  Perhaps you can help us with the page of the PDF?

MR. ENGELBERG:  The last page of tab 6 of Hydro One's compendium.

MS. SCHWAEBE:  I believe it was page 81, if you can bring that up.  Is this the document you're referring to?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, it is.  May I ask you a question about it?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  I did not prepare it, but you can definitely ask me a question.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I want to know how you reconcile the 35-million-dollar amount shown on the second line of the chart, in the fourth column from the right, 35,093,798 with the 25 million that I understood is the land acquisition costs -- I'm sorry, excluding -- by saying 25 million, I've taken out the two million that Ms. Tidmarsh said was not included because it was for 28(2) permits.

MS. SCHWAEBE:  So as I said, I didn't prepare this table and I will ask Ms. Weinstein to add additional clarification.

But my understanding is on this table, the 774 budget shown there for construction cost is allocated between our project allocation coding.  So there is more in there in the land rates than just the land acquisition cost of that 23.8 million.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  This is an accounting schedule to align with the main asset account.  So what you have in there, using the land rights bucket as an example, the 35 million you're referring to is going to be a hybrid of directly assigned land costs, which are primarily the land budget you had alluded to on the other page, the 23.8 million, along with any land costs that were directly assigned to land through the phase shift period and the development period, along with any indirect costs, and an example of that would be our project management budget.  That gets spread pro rata between the asset accounts you see here, which is land rights, towers and fixtures, and then overhead conductors and devices.  There is not a unique asset account for things like project management or even environmental costs.  Those all indirect get assigned and spread pro rata to these plant accounts, so that's why the land rights account is not going to tie out one to one when you just manually add up the direct budget costs that you do see call that as land.

MR. ENGELBERG:  How did you determine how much of those costs and what category of those costs to put into the land rights column?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Well, we use the OEB accounting handbook, which describes each of those accounts, and what -- for the direct part, what is land rights, what are towers and fixtures.  So we are able to use the OEB accounting guidance which provides a description of each account to understand what gets directly assigned there.  And then as I mentioned, things that are not direct assets such as project management costs, environmental costs not tied to a direct asset one for one, such as a tower, those get spread over the directly assigned costs, and we just used a weighting mechanism to assign them pro rata based on the direct costs, which we think is common practice, since again I mentioned there is not an asset account for things such as project management.  They need to be assigned.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Now, I think that it's fair to say there are no permanent easements associated with the line.  Is that correct?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  That is not correct, no.  If you go back to the filing we showed, we state in there that there is 5.5 kilometres of permanent easement required from fee simple land ownership.  On top of that we secured Crown easements as well under the direction of the Ministry of Northern Development and Mining, where we were required to engage with the mining leaseholders and secure easements versus a partial surrender of the mining leaseholding.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are those latter easements that you're talking about from the Crown, are they permanent as well?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  They are, yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What asset life did NextBridge give to the permanent easements, to all of them?  Can you quantify them as part of the 35 million, how much?  And how did you do that?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Give me one second.  I will get there.  So for the depreciable life for our main major assets, we utilized the Foster & Associates study, statement E particularly, which assigns a proposed life to all of these things, and from that Foster & Associates study statement E, land rights, or account 1706 using the OEB's accounting structure, the proposed life there was 100 years.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  And is that for the Crown lands as well?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  That was for the entire account of 1706.  That was assigned the 100-year life.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.  Thank --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  And again, that [audio dropout]


MR. ENGELBERG:  Now, if you look at tab 2 of the Hydro One compendium, the total land area, if you add up the three categories, is about 28-and-a-half square kilometres, and my understanding -- and I think that NextBridge has agreed with this -- is that 28-and-a-half square kilometres amounts to a little bit over 7,000 acres.  Is that a fair approximation?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Without doing the math calculation, yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, given that the land rights payments are in excess of 35 million, if we look at the 7,000 acres, that works out to about 5,000 dollars an acre; is that right?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  The land value amounts are 23.8 million, and within that 23.8 million budget you have contractor cost, the cost of actual land appraisals and survey, so I would say that that would be the correct average per acre.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What would you say it is?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Well, it varies depending on what it's going through, and in our compensation principles that we filed it's very defined, so you're looking at roughly, depending on different municipalities, around 1,800 per acre for undeveloped land with different land holdings taking different average costs, so there is no one average across the whole right of way.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.  Well, I think we can all agree, probably, that that's not Toronto real-estate pricing.  Would you agree with that?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  No, I would not agree with that.  There's nine different municipalities that we go through that have different various land rights.  The land sizes take into account on that, and the land use, so it varies, and as well, you have Crown land in there that has mining leaseholders, which is very different than, say, a private acreage that's owned.  A mining lease is substantially different in pricing.

MR. ENGELBERG:  But are you disagreeing when I just made the observation that the amount up there regardless of which municipality or property you're going through is not the kind of valuation for real-estate pricing in Toronto?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  I didn't do a comparison of Toronto.  I compared what the real-estate price was for this area that we were actually operating in.

MR. ENGELBERG:  So are you saying that for all you know the prices in northern Ontario for this line along the East-West Tie could be similar to Toronto real-estate pricing?

MR. VEGH:  It's George Vegh here.  Mr. Engelberg, what's the relevance of comparing this to the price of real estate in Toronto?  I think I've been patient around this, but now you're stretching this out.  Could you provide 
me --


MR. ENGELBERG:  I --


MR. VEGH:  -- this comparison?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm looking -- and you'll see later in my questions -- comparing the value for transmission lines of property values in southern Ontario with northern Ontario, and I simply threw out Toronto because I thought I would easily get an agreement that prices in the area of this line north of Lake Superior through a large part of wilderness and some municipalities and First Nations is not similar to southern Ontario.  But I can see I cannot get an agreement on that.

MR. VEGH:  Well, the witness has given her answer as to the relevant comparables, and I think that's your answer.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, how was all the property on the route of the line valued?  What methodology was used, what quantitative information was relied on by NextBridge to reach the valuations that were paid along the route for the different kinds of properties?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  The LTP filing, and in that exhibit on the further pages we included all of our compensation principles, as well as the definition that we used at a credit appraiser to determine what the land use values are for securing of land rights.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you for that.

Now if you could look at Hydro One compendium tab 7, and let me know when you have looked at that.

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Is that a document?

MR. ENGELBERG:  This is the 2016 MPAC, which is Municipal Property Assessment Corporation assessed values for vacant parcels in Halton Hills, which the Bruce-to-Milton project crossed, and also vacant parcels in Nipigon.

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, this is George Vegh again.  Is this information in the record or are you giving evidence, Mr. Engelberg?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm not giving evidence.  This is not information that was in the record earlier, but I did want to ask some questions about the valuation differences between properties in the north and the south, and I thought it only fair to give the witnesses some material on which Hydro One would be referring.  If you don't want to look at that, if the witness doesn't want to look at that, please let me know, but I don't think the question I'm going to ask will be controversial.  May I proceed?

MR. VEGH:  I'll leave it to the panel.  I'm just -- you can ask the question.  I'm just a little concerned that you're introducing evidence in reality here through cross-examination, but we'll see how this goes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right, panel.  I'll put to you the basis of the question and perhaps you can let me know whether I may proceed.

It appears the difference in cost appear to be over 80 times greater in Halton Hills than in Nipigon, because the average cost per acre of vacant land in Halton Hills is approximately 39,000 dollars an acre, and the per-acre acquisition cost in Nipigon for vacant land is approximately 470 dollars an acre.  I would anticipate the disparity in the Niagara area would be even greater, but I'm not going to refer to that.

And what I would like to ask in that regard is:  Is it your agreement that there is a considerable price difference between northern and southern Ontario real estate costs?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  First off, what I'm looking at is a redacted table, which I believe is property assessments.  Is that correct that's what this is property assessments --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Okay.  So typically we wouldn't use property assessments to determine price of value.  It's not an appraisal report and it shouldn't be considered as equivalent to one.

Based on property values here or property assessments taxes, it looks like there's a variation.  So that I can confirm.

But you only brought up one municipality from the project area.  And like I said, this is a property assessment as is not equivalent to undertaking of an independent appraisal which NextBridge and HONI uses to acquire land.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I understand that.  But regardless of the fact that it is not appraisal but an assessment, would you agree with the statement in a there is a considerable price difference in land acquisition cost between northern and southern Ontario?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  From the information provided, it would appear --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Excuse me, or from your own knowledge without even looking at the chart.  From your general knowledge as an expert, would you agree that there's a substantial difference between land acquisition cost in southern Ontario and northern Ontario where the East-West Tie is?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Now I would like to turn to the Black & Veatch study, which is submitted as well.  We have it at tab 8 in our compendium.  It was an exhibit earlier.  The Black & Veatch study was prepared for the Western Electricity Coordinating Council.

Mr. Russo, I understand you used a 1.99 multiplier which came from the Black & Veatch study.  You use that 1.99 multiplier to isolate the 500 kV variable of the Bruce-to-Milton line for comparison purposes in your report.  Is that correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.  It effectively cut the cost of Bruce to Milton in half in my comparison.

MR. ENGELBERG:  To get the 1.99 multiplier, you take the 500 kV double circuit base cost of 2,967,000 and you divide that by 230 kV double circuit base cost of 1,484,000.  That's how it was done, right?

MR. RUSSO:  That sounds right. I believe table 4-1 has the source of the numbers.  I haven't memorized the exact figures.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I didn't expect you to.  I would like to take you now --


MR. RUSSO:  If we can flip to that table like I requested to confirm that's the source of the numbers you're discussing.  If it's not table 4-1, I will get you the proper table.


MR. ENGELBERG:  So that was correct?

MR. RUSSO:  Yes, this appears to be the table from which the numbers were drawn.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And that study articulates a formula for calculating the cost of a transmission line.  It says total transmission line cost equals -- and it gives a number of items which are multiplied by each other and then added.  Do you see that?

MR. RUSSO:  Are you talking about the equation immediately preceding this particular table on page 4-1?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, it begins with base transmission cost times conductor multiplier times structure multiplier.

MR. RUSSO:  I believe we're talking about page 4-1, which is up slightly in the document.  There we go.

MR. ENGELBERG:  It's in the box.

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  Now, for the purposes of your benchmarking study, why did you not use the latter half of the Black & Veatch study calculation that discusses the impact of real estate acquisition costs on total transmission line costs, given that you relied on the Black & Veatch study to arrive at the multiplier of 1.99?

MR. RUSSO:  So are you -- by the latter half of the study, are you referring to the second half of the equation after the plus sign on the screen?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, and information that follows that as well.  I mean, I think I'll let you explain.  I won't put words in your mouth.  But you relied on part of the Black & Veatch study, but not on the remainder of it and I wanted to find out the basis for your doing that.  There were other variables, there were other variables suggested by the Black & Veatch study that I understand you chose not to investigate, and I wonder why that is.

MR. RUSSO:  I didn't hear a question mark at the end of that statement, but I can generally explain how I used this study, which was to make adjustments where warranted where the input data for the projects I evaluated were sufficiently detailed and granular in order me to make a judgment.

In this particular case, you asked about why I didn't take into account land cost -- quite simply because I didn't need to conduct any kind of benchmarking exercise.  The projects I looked at, be they in Ontario or elsewhere, were all ex post in the sense the data were there, they had been provided to me, so I didn't need to construct a bottom-up estimate of the cost.  I had the cost already which I then used to compare to the cost for the East-West Tie.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Were there other variables identified in the Black & Veatch study that you did not use, other than the ones you just mentioned?

MR. RUSSO:  I can answer the question a better, which is way which [audio dropout]

I chose to use one particular variable and noted the uncertainty of doing so.  In particular, I chose to make the voltage adjustment for the Bruce-to-Milton line and then I applied a larger dead band or uncertainty in doing so because of the potential uncertainty of applying a study to a line in Ontario and the inherent uncertainty in applying different coefficients.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Were there any other variables identified in the Black & Veatch study that you chose not to use, and if so could you tell me why you chose not to use those?

MR. RUSSO:  I've identified the only study that -- the only variable from this particular study I chose to use.  There's a long list I didn't choose to use. I chose to use one because it was the most appropriate and suitable.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Would you agree that if you had investigated the other variables, the results of the benchmarking study could be quite different?

MR. RUSSO:  I wouldn't agree with that.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Why is that?

MR. RUSSO:  If there is a particular variable or particular item from the Black & Veatch report to which you're referring, I might be able to answer the question.  I chose the data selectively from the Black & Veatch report to adjust the cost of Bruce Milton.  I didn't think any other data or adjustments were appropriate.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Panel, if you'd like to take a break now, we could.  Or I could continue for a few more minutes.  I'm asking the Commissioners.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Engelberg, how much longer do you think you have?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I expect to use my full time of an hour.

DR. ELSAYED:  We'll take a short break now.  It is roughly 3:25, so we'll take a short break until 3:35 and then we will resume.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:26 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:38 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Welcome back.  Mr. Engelberg, back to you.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Russo, would you look at tab 9 of the Hydro One compendium, please.

MR. RUSSO:  Give me a moment to get there, please.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

MR. RUSSO:  Tab 9 is HONI Interrogatory No. 6; correct?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Correct.

MR. RUSSO:  Okay.

MR. ENGELBERG:  In interrogatory 6H you were asked about the real-estate impact on project costs; correct?

DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry.  Is anybody answering that question?

MR. RUSSO:  I didn't hear a question.  I was asked --


MR. ENGELBERG:  I asked if that was -- I asked if that was correct.

MR. RUSSO:  Sorry, I said yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  If you turn to tab 11 of the Hydro One compendium, the question has been answered there, and you wrote that the East-West Tie line crossed a significant portion of First Nations land, which resulted in increased Indigenous costs, whereas other projects acquire more real estate and therefore have increased real-estate costs.  Can you tell me what the increased Indigenous costs you're referring to in that statement?

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Engelberg, I don't want to interrupt, but you asked about HONI Interrogatory No. 6H, and --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  -- now you're on to a different interrogatory, so you --


MR. ENGELBERG:  No, I'm --


MR. VEGH:  -- entered --


MR. ENGELBERG:  No, I'm not -- sorry --


MR. RUSSO:  I have to confess, I'm confused as well.  You're reading from sub-part H of my answer, which is HONI 6, and we're now on to Staff interrogatory 51, but you appear to be reading from HONI 6.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What I meant to do was to ask about your response when you answered the IR, which we looked at in Hydro One interrogatory 6H, and you were asked about the real-estate impact on project costs, and I see that you responded that the East-West Tie line crossed a significant portion of First Nations land, which resulted in increased Indigenous costs.  Am I reading from the wrong place?

MR. RUSSO:  No, you're --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Engelberg, we have you now.  I think that you called out tab 11 and you still wanted to stay on tab number 9, so I think we have you now on screen.  You can proceed with that question.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Thank you for that help.

MR. RUSSO:  That was my confusion as well.  You made reference to tab 11, but we are, just to be clear, still on tab 9, so --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, sorry.  Can you tell me what the increased Indigenous costs are that you're referring to in that statement?

MR. RUSSO:  Certainly.  And Ms. Tidmarsh may wish to augment this answer, but my understanding is that East-West Tie crosses significant amount of First Nations lands and has significantly higher Indigenous costs than some of the projects that we looked at.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  So can you tell me what -- thank you.

MR. VEGH:  Go ahead, Ms. Tidmarsh.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.  So the East-West Tie transmission line crosses two Indigenous First Nations reserve lands.  The first one is Pays Plat, and the second one is Michipicoten.  And so the crossing for Pays Plat is 6.5 kilometres of right of way, not including any access roads, and the crossing for Michipicoten First Nation is ten kilometres, not including any access roads.

And so as part of the real-estate costs for crossing of First Nations reserve lands, NextBridge factors in real-estate costs that are above fair market value.  And so we do this in accordance with the Land Management Act, the First Nations Land Management Act, that states that fair market value is the minimum at which First Nations land is valued at.  And so these lands not only hold a fair market value, but they also hold cultural significance.  They also are traditionally important to those First Nations as well.  And so we value those lands at different rates than what real estate -- what typical real estate would be.

Also as part of this it's important to note that First Nations reserve lands cannot be expropriated.  The difference here between traditional real estate and First Nations land is that these lands cannot be expropriated, and in which case if NextBridge was unable to cross those reserve lands, NextBridge would have to go around them.  So if a deal was not made with the federal government and the First Nation, we would have to go around them.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Is it your understanding that other projects, other lines, that cross First Nation lands must also honour those principles and, as you say, pay more than fair market value for them?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't opine on any other projects, but what I do know is I know that it is fact that those lands cannot be expropriated.  It is fact that from the First Nations Land Management Act that fair market value they have stated is a minimum, a floor, for payments for First Nations reserve crossings.  I can't opine on other projects.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, I think you and Mr. Russo are saying that different lands that you've crossed have very different values.  Is that a correct statement?  Would you agree with that?

MR. RUSSO:  Is that a question to me or Ms. Tidmarsh?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Both of you, please.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can begin.  So I think, yes, and continuing, actually, Ms. Schwaebe also said the same thing, so the lands that were crossed for NextBridge's project not only include First Nation lands, also Crown lands, private lands, and Ms. Schwaebe also mentioned mining claims, which is quite different as well, so there's a variety of different type of lands that NextBridge project crossed --


MR. RUSSO:  I would also [audio dropout] principle that land costs can indeed vary depending on where a project is built.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Russo, did you make necessary adjustments for the real-estate variable in the transmission capital cost benchmarking study that assesses all-in capital costs in different parts of the province where the real-estate values vary so greatly?

MR. RUSSO:  I'm sorry, you made reference to transmission capital cost study.  I just want to be clear what precisely you're asking.  Perhaps you can rephrase the question.

MR. ENGELBERG:  In any transmission capital cost benchmarking study, do you believe it would be helpful to make adjustments to the study to assess all-in capital costs in different parts of the province where real-estate values vary so greatly?

MR. RUSSO:  I -- when you say capital costs I'm going to assume that you're referring to land acquisition costs.  There may be instances where that's appropriate.  It wasn't necessary or appropriate to do so in this case [audio dropout] fairly detailed data on overall project costs of the projects I looked at as comparison to the East-West Tie.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Did you adjust for real-estate costs when you assessed your all-in capital costs?

MR. RUSSO:  I did not adjust for real-estate costs.  It wasn't necessary to do so to complete the benchmark.

MS. TIDMARSH:  However, I would like to note --


[Multiple speakers.]

MS. TIDMARSH:  Pardon me --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would like to note, though, that as part of the study -- and Mr. Russo can confirm -- we did back out of the Indigenous costs.  Is that correct, Mr. Russo?  So the costs for the 28(2) permits were actually backed out of the study?

MR. RUSSO:  That is correct.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So there wasn't --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Russo -- Mr. Russo, I think you said a moment ago that you compared it to other projects; is that correct?

MR. RUSSO:  I compared the East-West Tie to other projects as the subject of my benchmarking study.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Did you contact other transmitters and builders to get the information from them or did you just use publicly available information?

MR. RUSSO:  I relied upon publicly available information.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, for example, my understanding is you didn't reach out to Hydro One to confirm the line cost of the Bruce-to-Milton project, and Hydro One subsequently informed you that the cost you used was incorrect and that you agreed to that in your response to Hydro One interrogatory 6G.  Is that correct?

Perhaps you'll recall without even going back to look at that reference.

MR. RUSSO:  Hydro One did supply some updated information resulting in a de minimus change in the overall line cost for Bruce to Milton.

MR. ENGELBERG:  If you flip back to tab 1 of the Hydro One compendium, in section 2.2.3 of your benchmarking study report you compare the East-West Tie project against the B.C. Hydro northwest transmission line; is that correct?

MR. RUSSO:  Let me flip to the proper page.  Which page are you looking at?  2.2.3 is page 9?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MR. RUSSO:  Okay, I'm with you.

MR. ENGELBERG:  In that section you compared the East-West Tie project against the B.C. Hydro project which is a 287 kilovolt transmission line that runs roughly 344 kilometres; is that correct?

MR. RUSSO:  It is.

MR. ENGELBERG:  How did you confirm the cost of the B.C. Hydro project, specifically the proportionate share of their costs associated with line work and station work?

MR. RUSSO:  As I set forth in my report also in this section here, the B.C. Hydro project was the project on which I had probably the least granular information, a fact HONI also noted in one of its interrogatories.

It wasn't subject to regulatory review or detailed cost estimates and, frankly, it was something I thought long and hard about, whether it merited inclusion.

Given the absence of data on the substation cost, the next best analog I had was the overall substation cost for Bruce to Milton, in which 11 percent of the overall cost was attributable to substation work.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Why did you pick the Bruce-to-Milton project and not the line in station split for the East-West Tie?

MR. RUSSO:  Bruce to Milton seemed the most appropriate project to use.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, you said that the B.C. Hydro information wasn't really apparent.  Did you try to contact B.C. Hydro to find out whether the cost categories that you allocated their costs to and the value allocated to each of those cost categories are correct?

MR. RUSSO:  Well, I said not that it wasn't apparent.  What I said was that it wasn't as granular as I would have liked.  So no, I did not reach out to B.C. Hydro and I strongly suspect that had I asked for proprietary information on their costs, I would not have received it, nor have I ever relied upon proprietary information in a benchmarking study.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Why do you conclude that information would have been proprietary and that B.C. Hydro wouldn't have provided you with that information?

MR. RUSSO:  Again, if it were publicly available, if I used it -- I think you asked me if I were to reach out for other information not publicly available, my definition for that would it's proprietary.

MR. ENGELBERG:  You didn't reach out to Hydro One either and Hydro One didn't maintain their information was proprietary.

MR. RUSSO:  When I analyzed Bruce to Milton, there was sufficiently detailed records from which to draw information.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I guess you're saying you felt no need to reach out to either utility, is that correct?

MR. RUSSO:  I didn't believe it was necessary to conduct my study and as I said, there was detailed information available on Bruce to Milton, which HONI helpfully augmented, and I relied upon publicly available information, a standard practice in benchmarking approaches.

MR. ENGELBERG:  If you look at section 2.2.3 of your report -- do you have that in front of you?

MR. RUSSO:  I do, which is page 9.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Halfway through, you the make the statement:  
"Charles River Associates CRA has therefore assumed 11 percent or 82 million of the total cost of the project was attributable to substations work consistent with the Bruce-to-Milton project."


I want to be clear on that.  You took that percentage from Bruce to Milton when you did the analysis of the B.C. Hydro project?

MR. RUSSO:  I did.  I pulled it from a Bruce-to-Milton filing.  In the absence of better information, that was the approach I chose.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And the 11 percent may or may not be the actual case for B.C. Hydro.  It could vary considerably, could it not?

MR. RUSSO:  As I said, they didn't provide the data publicly, I therefore assumed and used the best data that I had available.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Now if you look back at the Black & Veatch study under table 41 that I asked to you look at earlier, if you could look back at that.

MR. RUSSO:  Okay.

MR. ENGELBERG:  The base cost of a single circuit kV line is -- I think everyone would be in agreement is less expensive than a double circuit 230 kV line by about one third --


MR. VEGH:  Can you pull up the document.  We're getting into numbers here and --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Sorry, I understood the witness to say he was there.

MR. RUSSO:  I have table 4-1 in front of me in paper form.  But it would of course be helpful to have it on the screen as well.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  May I proceed?

MR. RUSSO:  Yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Now, what I was suggesting is that the base cost of a single circuit 230 kV line is less expensive than a double circuit 230 kV line by about a third, and I would like to ask you why did you not think it was nose make an adjustment for the difference?

MR. RUSSO:  This may surprise you, it's not an unreasonable proposal.  But it's something I considered and ultimately elected not to include for a number of reasons.  As I stated previously, the B.C. project was the one about which I had the most questions about the granularity and applicability of data.

Ultimately, I elected to include it, in an effort to further increase the accuracy and relevance of the benchmarking study.

The second reason I chose not to include it was consistency.  As I stated earlier, I really only had one adjustment factor which I applied from the WECC study, and that was to the Bruce-to-Milton project significantly reducing Bruce to Milton's costs.

If I were to start applying other costs, other adjustments from the Black & Veatch study, I would have had to adjust for everything.  I didn't have sufficiently granular information to be able to do that in all cases.  So it was an effort to maintain consistency from the across the projects I compared.

I note that in a spreadsheet supplied to me two days ago, HONI attempted to make this adjustment.  I understand the reason for the proposal; I don't agree with it.  But the adjusted figure that HONI proposed actually had incorrect inflation adjustment in it and the answer was actually somewhat different than HONI had suggested.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you referring to the document at tab 10 of the Hydro One compendium?

MR. RUSSO:  Is that the spreadsheet?

MR. ENGELBERG:  It's the base cost adjustment that Hydro One did, the first line in the spreadsheet being B.C. Hydro's northwest transmission line.

MR. RUSSO:  Yes, that is the adjustment to which I'm referring.  In general, I had the approach of applying as few adjustments as possible in order to maintain consistency and treat each project equally.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Do you maintain that it wouldn't have been equivalent to treating each project equally to adjust for the difference between a single-circuit 230 kV line and a double-circuit 230 kV line?

MR. RUSSO:  As I stated earlier, I didn't think it was a necessary adjustment to make, and also, there were a number of factors, which you alluded to earlier in your questioning, from the Black & Veatch study which I chose not to include.  I chose one particular adjustment, which was the voltage level from Bruce to Milton, and in doing so I applied a larger deadband or uncertainty band around the results in order to do so.  Again, I don't think it's an unreasonable proposal.  It's something I considered but ultimately elected not to include.  However, the actual answer that HONI was looking for is not 1.41 [audio dropout] but 1.43.  An incorrect inflation rate was used.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, are you referring to what Hydro One supplied in the document at tab 10?

MR. RUSSO:  Cell C7, specifically.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  Well, my understanding is on that tab 10 Hydro One also corrected an error in your report that over-represented the 2022 costs of the B.C. Hydro project based on your 2 percent growth rate assumption.  Did you have a chance to review that?

MR. RUSSO:  I did.  The actual inflator is 2.3 percent, not 2 percent.  Now, in fairness, that particular table, the data was all there.  The actual result had fewer decimal points or fewer numbers to the right of the decimal points, some other values, so I could see how that mistake could have been made, but the actual answer there should be 1.43.  The data [audio dropout] calculate.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.  We'll move on.  In your benchmarking study it's apparent that you used foreign exchange rates to escalate the Handy-Whitman index; is that correct?

MR. RUSSO:  Well, specifically only the Canadian-U.S. dollar index, but, yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, that's what I meant by foreign exchange rate.

MR. RUSSO:  Yes, but only that one.  No other -- no other exchange rates.

MR. ENGELBERG:  If you look at tab 9 of the Hydro One compendium...

MR. RUSSO:  And that is HONI Interrogatory No. 6?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.  And specifically 6F.

MR. RUSSO:  I'm there.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What Hydro One was asking was for you to provide examples of where the foreign exchange rate was previously done, and my understanding -- and you can correct me if I'm wrong -- is that you did not provide any, saying it would be too burdensome a task; is that correct?

MR. RUSSO:  Specifically -- and my answer to the interrogatory speaks for itself -- there is no Canadian equivalent to Handy-Whitman, and of course it is necessary to convert for currencies when available.  It would be burdensome to identify every particular study in which Handy-Whitman has been used and it wasn't necessary to support the conclusion that foreign currency adjustments were necessary.  My understanding is that a -- compared to labour, materials may well be sourced outside of Canada, and therefore it's necessary to make currency adjustments.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, people can debate the applicability of using foreign exchange adjustments for that, but can you tell me in your opinion as an expert what would happen to the 2022 cost values of the comparable projects that you used if the Handy-Whitman index values had been escalated by, let's say purchasing power parity instead of the foreign exchange method that your report undertook?

MR. RUSSO:  You know, I haven't done the calculation with purchasing power parity.  I used exchange rate, so I don't know the answer off the top of my head.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you familiar with purchasing power parity studies to look at differences, particularly between the U.S. and Canada?

MR. RUSSO:  I am familiar with purchasing power parity as a general concept.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Do you have an opinion as to whether the 2022 values would be higher or lower if purchasing power parity had been used rather than a simple foreign exchange comparison between the U.S. and Canadian dollar?

MR. RUSSO:  I haven't done the analysis, so I'm not sure I can give you an answer.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I would like to turn to the notes for Figure 14 in the Handy-Whitman index, Figure 14.  It's Hydro One's understanding that the Handy-Whitman plateau in U.S. dollars for the years 2018 to '22 is calculated based on the 2012 to 2017 compound annual growth rate; is that correct?

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, do we have a reference to that, Mr. Engelberg, a reference in the evidence that you're referring to?

MR. RUSSO:  I believe he is referring to Figure 14 in my report.

MR. ENGELBERG:  That's correct.  Sorry, Mr. Vegh.

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you there, Mr. Russo?

MR. RUSSO:  I am there in paper form, but I think we need to wait for us to get there on the screen.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Sure, thank you.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Maybe Mr. Engelberg can help.  Which tab again so that Jillian can get to it?

MR. VEGH:  If you need the page numbers, that's helpful, of your PDF, because we don't really have the tab index of our versions.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I think it is -- sorry --


MR. RUSSO:  I believe it's going to be tab 1, Schedule 7, attachment 1, if that's the information you're looking for.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We're looking for the -- in the compendium, the PDF page.  You can see it on our screen on the top left corner.  So poor Jillian and Kim are trying to scroll through and find it, so if we could get that page, that would be helpful for us.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm looking for -- I think it's tab 1 of the Hydro One compendium.

MR. VEGH:  Yeah, it's the page number that we need, Mr. Engelberg, to find it.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm sorry, I don't have that in front of me.

MR. VEGH:  It's your PDF.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I know.  Page 25.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

MR. RUSSO:  Okay.  This appears to be Figure 14 from my report.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.  And is our understanding correct that the HW plateau U.S. dollars for those four years, '18 to '22, is calculated based on 2012 to 2017 compound annual growth rate?

MR. RUSSO:  I believe that's correct.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Have you gone back to confirm that those forecasts were accurate?

MR. RUSSO:  I'm sorry, are you asking -- maybe you can rephrase the question.  I'm not precisely sure what you're getting at.

MR. ENGELBERG:  The plateau that was used for the years 2018 to 2022 is based on forecast 2012 to 2017 compound annual growth rate, and I wonder whether you've looked to confirm whether the forecasts that were made are accurate that were used for 2018 to 2022.

MR. RUSSO:  So of course I really only would have been able to look at three particular years, '18, '19, and 20.  It's --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MR. RUSSO:  -- very difficult to confirm -- very difficult to confirm future data.  But I think what you're asking is have I gone back and seen whether they were identical.  I addressed this in --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MR. RUSSO:  -- my interrogatories -- sorry.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Sorry, I'm obviously referring only to the years --


MR. VEGH:  Mr. Engelberg -- sorry -- Mr. Engelberg, it's difficult to follow when you're interrupting the witness.  Mr. Russo, if you could finish your answer, and then, Mr. Engelberg, you can ask another question.

MR. RUSSO:  Shall I continue?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, I just wanted to confirm to you that I'm asking obviously only about the years that have already occurred, and not about future years.

MR. RUSSO:  Right.  If I knew the future with certainty, I'd be on Wall Street, I suppose.

I addressed this in the answer to one of my interrogatories and one of the things I noted was the report was prepared originally circa 2018, and then later updated in 2020.  Typically these construction costs indices don't change dramatically year-to-year and in fact, if one were to look at the incremental year-over-year change, it's quite flat in this particular chart.

So I haven't gone back in particular to confirm these.  The data from Handy are in fact proprietary.  But given the general trend of construction cost indices and the flat changes in the chart so far, I'm confident they are a reasonable representation.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I now have one last question about this particular area.  If you would turn to tab 11 of the Hydro One compendium, I'd ask you to look at Board Staff 51(c).

MR. RUSSO:  Give me a moment to get there, please.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MR. RUSSO:  Okay, I'm there.

MR. ENGELBERG:  You clarify that you determined the percentage breakdown between materials and construction for the Niagara reinforcement project by reviewing the statement of average rate base.  And you then outline in your response that had you used the Bruce-to-Milton percentages, the average cost per kilometre would have dropped to $1.64 instead of $1.66.

Can you tell me what the average cost per kilometre would have been if you'd used the same proportional split that was used for NextBridge, if you had used it for the Niagara project?

MR. RUSSO:  I don't know off the top of my head.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Could you undertake to do that?

MR. RUSSO:  If I were directed by the Board to make an undertaking, I would.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I would appreciate that undertaking.  You can even just indicatively tell me what would have happened.  In other words, would they have been higher or lower than $1.64?

DR. ELSAYED:  We'll record that as an undertaking.

MR. RUSSO:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J2.2.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO CALCULATE THE AVERAGE COST PER KILOMETRE USED FOR NEXTBRIDGE IF IT HAD BEEN USED FOR THE NIAGARA PROJECT; WOULD IT HAVE BEEN HIGHER OR LOWER THAN $1.64.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I have a question for Mr. Mayers now.

Mr. Mayers, in your testimony yesterday you mentioned that bird deterrents are being considered.  What will ultimately trigger that investment?

MR. MAYERS:  First off, we have the requirement to install bird deterrents per our amended EA.  The environmental team can talk a little bit more about that, but we are specifically required to install some bird flight diverters.  As far as deterrents, the determination will be made as we see potential nesting along the line, or if we notice there is a large build up of bird excrement from birds resting on our towers and that excrement is somehow getting across our insulators, which can cause them to flash and trip the line out.  Those decisions will be made as we do our inspections.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Did the EA also require you to install cameras?

MR. MAYERS:  The EA did not, as far as I know.  Again, I'll let the environmental team talk about any requirements we have in the caribou area.  But specifically cameras, that's something that the NextEra has used throughout its operations throughout the country, so that we can have the assessments of what's going on particularly in locations that we deem to be important, such as major road crossings and river crossings.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you familiar with the existing Hydro One east-west line that parallels almost the entire route of the NextBridge line?

MR. MAYERS:  I know it parallels the route.  I saw part of it when I had the opportunity to get out there, yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you aware it has no cameras or bird deterrents?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm not aware of that.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you aware of the reliability of that line?

MR. MAYERS:  I am not.  But that's Hydro One's choice to operate their line.  NextBridge believes that using the new technologies that are available are something we would like to incorporate to help reduce O&M costs and give situational awareness to our operators.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.

MR. RAFFENBERG:  If I could just add to what Mr. Mayers said.  Bird deterrents were part of our amended EA, so I would gather that if you were building that line today, there would be the same condition for that line.

MR. ENGELBERG:  That may be.  Mr. Russo, could I ask you once again to look at Exhibit F, tab 4, Schedule 1, and perhaps I can find it.  I think it's in tab 9 of the Hydro One compendium.

MR. RUSSO:  Colloquially, which document is that?

MR. VEGH:  What document are we trying to locate here?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm trying to find that, too.  I'm sorry.  I apologize.

MR. RUSSO:  Tab 9, HONI interrogatory 6, if that's what we're referring to.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm sorry, if you'll give me a minute.  I'm going to skip away from that now, sorry, because I can't locate it.

What I want to ask you about is NextBridge's evidence is that overall, because it's been stated several times that overall NextBridge's OM&A spending on a per asset basis is low in comparison to other transmitters in Ontario.  And NextBridge refers to the Charles River Associates benchmarking study to support the conclusion.

And at tab 9 of the Hydro One compendium, Hydro One asked whether Charles River investigated OM&A spending on a per capita -- on a per asset basis.  And the answer that was given was that that was not investigated, nor was it necessary to do so in order to reach that conclusion because NextBridge has only one asset in Ontario, which is the East-West Tie line.

So what I want to ask you, Mr. Russo, is it your evidence that the number of towers and insulators and other identifiable assets are not relevant in a per asset assessment of OM&A, since it all rolls up into one transmission line?

MR. RUSSO:  Sorry, I'm not precisely sure of the question you're asking.  Perhaps you can rephrase it.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, is what you're saying that if there is only -- if the only asset is one transmission line, then the number of towers and insulators and other individually identifiable assets are not relevant when you do a per-asset assessment of OM&A, because it all rolls up into one transmission line?

MR. RUSSO:  I have to say I'm sorry, that does not summarize my testimony accurately.  Specifically in sub-part M I answered that I did not investigate spending on a per asset basis.  The intent of my benchmarking study was to benchmark cost per kilometre, but perhaps there is an aspect to your question that I'm missing.

MR. ENGELBERG:  No, I don't think you're missing it.  I think what you're saying is that you chose not to use the individual assets by separating them, by identifying them individually.  Isn't that what you just said?  I don't want to put words in your mouth.

MR. RUSSO:  No, that's not quite what I just said.  What I said was that the assets I investigated in this case were transmission lines.  I didn't attempt to benchmark nor to form a specific calculation on a cost per asset basis or OM&A per asset basis.  One table in my report does represent that for East-West Tie and two other projects, but I didn't undertake a specific examination of OM&A per asset.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And I just want to ask you why that is the case?

MR. RUSSO:  Again, the principal purpose of my report was to look at cost per kilometre.  It may be helpful to sort of look at the specific table to which I'm referring, which if you give me a moment is Figure 10 in my report on page 14, which --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.

MR. RUSSO:  -- OM&A spending per kilometre for the East-West Tie, Bruce-Milton, and the Niagara reinforcement, and as I testified earlier today, I've inflated neither the Niagara nor the Bruce-Milton numbers, which would increase their cost -- OM&A cost per kilometre relative to East-West Tie.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Now, I'd ask you to look at tab 9 of the Hydro One compendium.

MR. RUSSO:  And that is HONI interrogatory 6, correct?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MR. RUSSO:  Okay.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Specifically 6P.

MR. RUSSO:  Okay.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I understand you excluded the 2 million dollars of annual OM&A cost attributed to Indigenous participation and Indigenous compliance on the basis that these costs were unique to the East-West Tie line.  Why did you feel they were unique to this particular line?

MR. RUSSO:  Ms. Tidmarsh may want to augment this answer as well.  My understanding is that at the time of construction both the Niagara and Bruce to Milton existed under a different and precedent regulatory regime with regards to Indigenous participation and costs, and again, qualitatively, my understanding both from my conversations with NextBridge as well as my own understanding is that the East-West Tie does have noteworthy and significant Indigenous costs.  Ms. Tidmarsh may have more to add to that answer.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Mr. Russo.  I think if you could scroll down to the answer in P that would be helpful.  Thank you.  So the excluded costs that we removed -- so we mentioned that we removed the 22 federal reserve crossing permits, so those were removed, and then the excluded costs are with Indigenous agreements for Indigenous communities outside the East-West Tie ownership structure, and we've explained those further on.

And so NextBridge is not aware of the costs that Bruce to Milton or Niagara reinforcement have incurred within Indigenous communities, and so those were a line item that could easily be identified in Mr. Russo's report, and so we pulled those -- we pulled that out because we wanted to make sure that we were levellizing those costs.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And to clarify, the 4,900 dollars in property taxes you expect to pay this year are not included in these excluded OM&A dollars, right?

MR. RUSSO:  I believe that's a question for Ms. Tidmarsh or for me?

MR. ENGELBERG:  For Ms. Tidmarsh.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So property taxes costs -- the property tax costs you're talking to are in our OM&A budget.  Could you repeat the question, because Ms. Weinstein should be answering property taxes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I want to ask whether the 4,900 dollars in property taxes that you expect to pay this year are not included in the excluded OM&A dollars.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  So when you say excluded OM&A dollars you're referring to the benchmark report?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  So the property taxes of the roughly 5,000 dollars that we would expect to pay during operations, not this year, during construction, I believe those are excluded from the benchmark report as when we look at the table of the OM&A that is included, it was the O&M line, the compliance and administration, and the regulatory.  We have reviewed those six categories prior that those three are in, and then the three that are not are the Indigenous categories and the property taxes and rights payments.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much, Ms. Walding (sic).  I would like to tell the Commissioners I have about 15 minutes' worth of questions left.  Would you like me to proceed?  That would conclude my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, please proceed, Mr. Engelberg.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Russo, before we leave this area I just wanted to ask whether you independently satisfied yourself that the Indigenous activities that we talk about a moment ago are unique to the East-West Tie line and therefore should be ignored in an OM&A for single transmission-line ratio?

MR. RUSSO:  Well, I didn't ignore them, I explicitly chose to exclude them, so I have trouble with the choice of the word ignore.  I did rely upon some conversations with NextBridge in my own review [audio dropout] sufficiently comfortable that it is the appropriate allocation of cost.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  At the same tab we looked at Hydro One interrogatory 6P.  If you look at interrogatory 6N -- I'll wait until you get there.

MR. RUSSO:  I'm there.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Hydro One identified that the Charles River study was incorrect and overestimated the most recent Bruce-to-Milton OM&A spend by 25 percent and asked that you update your report to correct that, and to be fair, you responded that you wouldn't update it because it was immaterial.

Would you agree, though, that what you did was based on incorrect information?

MR. RUSSO:  Much as with the small change in the overall capital cost of Bruce to Milton, HONI was helpful enough to provide updated information, but as the note states, it was -- it would result in a de minimis change to the overall results.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Do you agree with the result that Hydro One came up with?

MR. RUSSO:  I have no reason to dispute it.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  And one last question for you, Mr. Russo.  Yesterday we heard about numerous potential OM&A increases with OM&A increases that are expected to increase the budget by at least 100 BPS.  You heard about those items as well?

MR. RUSSO:  I do generally recall testimony to that effect, but if there is a particular item or block of testimony you would like to discuss, it would be helpful to refer to the record.

MR. ENGELBERG:  No, I believe it was referred to several times yesterday and today.  Were you aware of those items that might be expected to increase the OM&A budget before you completed your study?

MR. RUSSO:  My study was completed in October.  I used the most up-to-date information that I had available to me at the time incorporated in Figure 10.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  So if something came along later you would not have included that?

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Engelberg, sorry --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Yeah.

MR. VEGH:  -- just so I understand, you referred to -- there is a lot of discussion around OM&A risk, but in your question you said that this would raise the [audio dropout] point to something?  I'm not sure where that came from.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, I'm not going to ask that we look back at the transcript, but I think it's fair to say generally that we heard witnesses talk about potential items that could increase OM&A, and I just wondered if Mr. Russo was aware of those items, not necessarily the size of them, the amount of them, but whether he was aware of those items at the time he -- possible increases when he drafted his report.

MR. VEGH:  I understand.  I thought you also added -- or the transcript will look at this and if you did add a figure, we can ignore that because that would be your evidence.

MR. ENGELBERG:  We can ignore that.

MR. VEGH:  I interrupted your answer, Mr. Russo.

MR. RUSSO:  I think my answer was, again to restate as I just testified, is that the most up-to-date information I had available incorporation of potential increases, I would have to have some sufficient degree certainty those increases would in fact be realized in adjusting the OM&A numbers.  As of the date of my report, I had not to do so, nor do I have any reason to adjust the OM&A numbers as I sit here today.

MS. TIDMARSH:  It's Ms. Tidmarsh, and I would like to add to that.  Our OM&A budget, as we've mentioned before, any sort of increases to OM&A are actually not being sought as part of this application.  NextBridge will be capping or absorbing any sort of increases to its OM&A budget.

So the numbers Mr. Russo used are the numbers that NextBridge will be passing on to ratepayers.  There will be no increase that is ratepayers will see of the OM&A budget, because NextBridge will be managing to that envelope.  So his numbers reflect what's included in this rate case for the ten-year IR term.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  That's helpful, Ms. Tidmarsh.  But I thought what we heard -- not from Mr. Russo, but from others that the forecast OM&A was a very minimal base and having multiple stress points that are expected to significantly increase the 4.94 million forecast for 2022.  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  NextBridge, its test year is included; that's the 4.92 million.  Over the life of the IR term, what we were talking about was the potential increases for the OM&A budget of increasing.  But again, that OM&A budget NextBridge will be absorbing any of those additions; that's what we've been talking about.

So I'm not sure characterizing NextBridge's OM&A budget is increasing is a proper characterization, since NextBridge will be managing its OM&A costs to the budget that it's provided.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I would now like to ask a couple questions about the NextBridge request for a term of almost ten years, a ten-year IRM term.  And I understand that what was relied on for that as one of the matters relied on was the fact that Hydro One Sault Ste. Marie among others applied for and received a similar term.  Is that correct?  I think that was you, Ms. Walding.

MS. WALDING:  That was not the term for which we applied, the ten-year rate term.  We were just using that as a comparison of a similar longer rate term of five years.  It was not one we based our decision off of, no.

MR. ENGELBERG:  You were aware of it and referred to it, is that correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you aware that the Hydro One Sault Ste. Marie request for ten years arose because it was part of a MADs application?

MS. WALDING:  I am aware of that, yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you aware that MAADs applications allow the purchaser a ten-year deferral period to recover its acquisition costs?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I'm aware of that.  We don't have acquisition costs associated with this, so we're not trying to recover additional costs from ratepayers.  We're just paying for the construction costs through this account.

Also, too, the terms that are allowed is a minimum of five years, according to the handbook.  So that is a minimum term.  So we have elected to use a ten-year term.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Throughout the evidence and testimony, the witnesses have defended that certain costs arise because NextBridge is a single line company, and I think that's a fair statement.

But are you aware that Hydro One Sault Ste. Marie is a vertically integrated transmission utility, and the operations include customer connection, stations, transformation and lines?

MS. WALDING:  I'm aware of that, yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Would you agree then Hydro One Sault Ste. Marie OM&A costs as a percentage of revenue requirement would be expected to be significantly higher than NextBridge's?

MS. WALDING:  I don't have any knowledge of their OM&A cost compared to ours.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, would you agree, though, as a vertically integrated existing transmission utility, they are required to continually renew and replace assets and therefore their rate base generally goes up to account for the increased cost of replacing old assets?

MS. WALDING:  I have no knowledge of their system and what they need to replace and not replace.  So no, I cannot speak to that.

MR. ENGELBERG:  But you would be aware as a long existing utility, their assets are not brand new the way the East-West Tie line will be?

MS. WALDING:  As I said, I cannot speak to the age of their assets or what work they need do on them.

MR. ENGELBERG:  You're aware it's not a new company with new assets; is that correct?

MS. WALDING:  I'm not aware of any more of their operation.  I have not researched their operations, no.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right, we'll move on.  I just have a few more questions.

I want to explore the comments from Mr. Garner's cross-examination earlier today where it was said that NRLP and B2M are part of the Hydro One network pool.  Do you remember saying that?

MS. WALDING:  I do, yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you aware that NRLP and B2M LP are independent separately licensed companies?

MS. WALDING:  I'm aware of that.  But I'm also aware that Hydro One provides services for them in the case of NRLP provides every service for them.  So there is nobody else that provides any service, so they don't operate independently even though they are not from that company.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you aware NRLP and B2M LP have service level agreements with Hydro One, approved by the OEB and in line with the Affiliate Relationship Code?

MS. WALDING:  I assume that's the case.  I'm not that versed in all the approvals that they've sought.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you saying then by the fact that Hydro One Networks supplies those services under SLAs with the two partnerships are different from the contract that NextBridge has with Hydro One Networks for maintenance?

MS. WALDING:  I'm not aware of their contracts on NRLP.  I can only see from the cost that it's a very discounted cost in comparison to running a single line, which is what we are doing.

So that leads somebody to believe that you couldn't operate a single facility that is really independent from Hydro One at that same level of cost.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Isn't the NRLP a single line, and isn't B2M LP a single line?

MS. WALDING:  They are, but they have an affiliate relationship that has obviously given them a lot lower cost than operating a single line.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Do you believe that the contract that NextBridge has with Hydro One Networks is riskier than the contract that NRLP and B2M LP have with Hydro One Networks, which is approved by the OEB?

MS. WALDING:  I have not been able to review their contracts, no.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, those are all my questions.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.  This concludes our session for today.  I would like to thank everyone for participating.  So have a good night, everyone, and we will resume tomorrow morning at 9:30.  
---  Whereupon proceedings adjourned at 4:38 p.m.
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